B.
Interference, Intimidation & Coercion

1.  The §3617 Cause of Action

(a) Four Verbs

DEFINITIONS OF THE  3617 VERBS 

Webster’s Ninth New Collegiate Dictionary (1988)

COERCE: 1: to restrain or dominate by force; 2: to compel to an act or choice; 3: to enforce or bring about by force or threat

THREATEN: 1:  to utter threats against; 2: a: to give signs or warning of, b: to hang over dangerously; 3: to announce as intended or possible

INTIMIDATE: to make timid or fearful; frighten; to compel or deter by or as if by threats

INTERFERE: 1: to interpose in a way that hinders or impedes: come into collision or be in opposition ; … 3: to enter into or take a part in the concerns of others …

(  (  (  (  (  (  (
DISCUSSION QUESTIONS
41.  42 USC §§3617 makes it unlawful to “coerce, interfere, threaten, or intimidate” with a person attempting to exercise FHA rights or to help others exercise those rights.  For each of the four verbs Congress chose to employ in the statute, try to come up with an example from your experience or imagination of a situation that would be covered by the statute because of that particular verb.   
42.  Does 24 CFR §100.400 (the regulation explaining §3617) shed any light on the meaning of the verbs?
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SALISBURY HOUSE v. McDERMOTT

Civil Action 96-CV-6486, 1998 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 4371 (E.D. Penn. 1998)

Van Antwerpen, J.:  Introduction.  This non-jury case involves an attempt by the Plaintiff, a Pennsylvania corporation, to open a crisis home for mentally ill persons in Chalfont Borough, Pennsylvania. The Plaintiff has asserted claims against the Defendants under the Fair Housing Amendments Act of 1988…. 

Findings of Fact.  … 

1. The Defendants are a married couple residing in Chalfont Borough, across the street from the site where the Plaintiff sought to open the crisis home. … 

5. The crisis home which the Plaintiff intended to open in Chalfont Borough was located in a … zoning district [that] would allow for structures such as boarding homes. The crisis home … would have qualified as a boarding home.  …

10. Defendant Paul McDermott, Ph.D., is the Chair of Psychology in Education, Division of the Graduate School of Education at the University of Pennsylvania. 

12. The purpose of a crisis home is to provide a swift clinical and environmental intervention for people who are having an acute episode of mental illness to allow them to return, as soon as possible, to their natural living environment. This is a relatively new concept in services to the mentally ill. The crisis home is designed to serve mentally ill people who are not sufficiently ill to require hospitalization. 

13. Salisbury House can house a maximum of eight patients, though generally fewer will be housed there at any given time. The maximum length of stay is 10 days, but averages only 5.5 days. 

14. There would be approximately 300 admissions into the proposed home per year. … 

16. Salisbury House is not designed to house or admit dangerous people, although dangerousness is not a characteristic which can be identified in all cases. 

17. Virtually all patient referrals to Salisbury House come from the County Crisis Services, which performs an independent screening assessment. If Crisis Services believes that hospitalization is not warranted, individuals may be referred to a crisis home such as Salisbury House. 

18. When an individual is referred by Crisis Services, Salisbury House performs an independent intake evaluation, followed by a full scale psychological review. In addition, patients are constantly assessed while they are at Salisbury house. … 

21. Salisbury House Allentown has had between five and six hundred admissions in more than two years of operation. During this time, no patient, staff member, or neighbor has been injured. There have never been any incidents of aggression between patients and neighbors. The worst instance of aggression involved a patient who was flailing her arms and may have struck a staff member in the process. 

22. Salisbury House is accredited by the Joint Commission on the Accreditation of Health Care Organizations (“JCAHO”). 

23. The directors of Salisbury House have opened approximately sixty group homes to provide housing and residential services for disabled persons over the last twenty years. … In approximately twenty cases, Salisbury House has faced community opposition to having disabled people move into a community. 

24. Prior to the attempt to open the crisis home to be located in Chalfont Borough, Salisbury House had opened every home it had attempted to open. 

25. Salisbury House management has had to deal with a variety of zoning issues related to the creation of community homes for the disabled since 1979. 

26. In the past, all of the homes opened by Salisbury House were opened in residentially zoned areas. … While each of these homes were designed to serve disabled individuals, only Salisbury house Allentown was a crisis home in the same sense as the home intended for Chalfont Borough. 

27. In 1997, Salisbury House decided to open another crisis home which would serve a function very similar to Salisbury House Allentown. Although the two homes would function similarly, the Chalfont home would technically be licensed as a boarding home. 

28. After looking at many sites with a variety of real estate agents in many townships in Bucks and Montgomery counties, Salisbury House found what it believed to be an ideal site in Chalfont Borough. 

29. The property in Chalfont included a farmhouse situated on 3.5 acres of land, and was located in a commercial zoning district. …

31. On July 2, 1996, Salisbury House signed an agreement of sale for the Chalfont property. The agreement had one contingency which permitted a 30-day study period to see make sure the home was not structurally unsound or problematic in any similar way.

32. In the past when Salisbury House had opened homes, neighbors were advised after the home was opened. As a result, Salisbury House was sometimes criticized for sneaking into a residential zone. 

33. It appears that Salisbury House attempted to respond to this concern by taking some steps to inform and educate the neighbors and Borough officials about the crisis home before it opened. 

34. Salisbury House distributed a full color brochure with a cover letter describing the proposed Chalfont crisis home to the immediate neighbors. The letter invited neighbors to call the CEO or Director of Salisbury House with any questions. Additional copies of the materials were provided to Borough officials, so that they could provide then to neighbors who may call with questions or concerns. 

35. Salisbury House made a number of offers to the Borough and to neighbors, both in letters and in public statements, to drive community members to Salisbury House Allentown to see the home there first hand. Salisbury House offered to provide transportation and pay all expenses associated with such trips. 

36. When concerns that the crisis home might reduce property values or increase crime were expressed, Salisbury House provided 100 to 150 pages of scientific studies which addressed these concerns. 

37. Dr. Smock [(the director of the Allentown center)] personally visited the immediate neighbors of the proposed site in an attempt to answer questions and calm fears. 

38. The Defendants, who lived across the street from the proposed site, never directly received any written materials from Salisbury House and were never visited at home by any representative of Salisbury House. 

39. The Defendants did not call the CEO or Director of Salisbury House, visit Salisbury House Allentown, or review the studies on property values delivered to the Borough Hall. 

40. Several people did call Salisbury House for information regarding the proposed home. 

41. On or about July 31, 1996, the Defendants prepared and circulated a letter which read:

Hi neighbors:

 
As promised, here is a copy of the literature sent out by Salisbury house. We know some of you have already received this information. Remember, many people on serious medication can be problematic around innocent children. Please pay particular attention to the last page under “Referrals and Admissions” where it is stated that referrals are accepted from social service agencies. This poses the real threat of drug abusers and other dangerous predators being accepted as patients at Salisbury house. Remember, this is not a non-profit organization and drug abusers receive federal and state funding. Businesses operate to make money. We doubt very much that either Dr. Smock or Dr. Volosov [(the CEO of the Salisbury House organization) are planning to move into our neighborhood, sharing our risk.

 
It is important to know that there is some question as to whether the property involved is properly zoned. If the zoning is consistent with the intended use, it becomes even more important that we express our fears early and vehemently.

 
Thank you for listening to our concerns. We look forward to seeing as many of you as can possibly make the meeting . . . .
42. We do not credit the Defendants’ assertion that the term “vehemently” was meant to imply only “consistently,” “enthusiastically,” “steadfastly” or “stridently” and was not intended to carry any negative connotation. …  We find that a reasonable reader would associate at least some negative, angry connotation with the word “vehemently” as it appeared in the leaflets circulated by the Defendants. … 

43. The July 31, 1996 letter was followed by an additional flyer, prepared and distributed by the Defendants, which read:

URGENT NOTICE TO ALL LOCAL RESIDENTS

THERE IS IMMINENT DANGER OF AN INPATIENT PSYCHIATRIC TREATMENT FACILITY MOVING INTO OUR AREA

   
In order to distribute the proceeds of an estate, the farmhouse next to the beer distributor on Route 202 (220-22 Butler Avenue) is for sale and an inpatient psychiatric treatment facility has made a bid on the property. A brochure distributed by the psychiatric treatment center to adjoining properties only, expressly states that they accept social service referrals. This places our children and ourselves at direct risk from drug users and other dangerous predators.

   
This inpatient psychiatric treatment center is not a non-profit organization. They will accept patients who can pay and drug users receive federal and state support. If we allow this business to enter our community, we place ourselves in harms way and jeopardize property values. If things get bad (and they will) you will have a difficult time getting out.

   
The facility has been very vague about their clientele. Why? There is some question about zoning and there is definitely a public safety issue here. We must express our concerns now and vehemently.

  PLEASE COME TO THE PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING MONDAY AUGUST 5TH 8PM CHALFONT BOROUGH HALL 40 N. MAIN STREET (use front door)

   
We are on the agenda and reliable sources have told us that the owners of this inpatient psychiatric institution do not want publicity or hassle from the taxpaying residents. Your attendance can mean the difference.

  THE PSYCHOLOGISTS WHO PROFIT FROM THIS BUSINESS DON’T LIVE IN OUR NEIGHBORHOOD. DON’T LET THEM RUIN IF FOR US.

  Call Paul or Andrea McDermott at [number redacted] if you have any questions. …
  45. The Plaintiff had originally placed the crisis home on the agenda for the August 5, 1996 Chalfont Planning Commission meeting. However, prior to August 5, Borough officials and the Plaintiff agreed that the proper procedure to follow was to file a zoning application for the use, the idea being to file a specific request before discussing the request at a meeting. 

46. Borough officials and Dr. McDermott were both aware that no one from Salisbury House would attend the August 5 meeting. 

47. Several neighbors were disappointed that no representative of Salisbury House attended the meeting. 

48. The Plaintiff did not know that such a large number of interested and concerned individuals would be attending the meeting. 

49. The August 5, 1996 Chalfont Planning Commission meeting was attended by “a throng of angry residents.” 

50. At the meeting, Dr. McDermott identified himself as “a Professor of Education and Chair of Psychology in the Education Division, Graduate School of Education, University of Pennsylvania, ... Director Ph.D. of the Program in School, Community, and Clinical Psychology, University of Pennsylvania.” The minutes of the meeting also state that,

He [Paul McDermott] stated that when referrals are accepted from social services this poses the threat of drug abusers and other dangerous predators. Dr. McDermott stressed that his was not a light issue and that the type of people who would be housed could be unstable, very dangerous, with depression, substance abuse disorders and others. Dr. McDermott also stated that there was the safety issue. The Psychiatrist and nurses are on call, but there are no resident Psychiatrist or nurses. Dr. McDermott stated that this facility would be too close to a day-care facility, schools, and children living on the adjoining properties. Another problem would be that no one would pay money to live in a neighborhood where a group home is located; therefore, lowering the property values of all the homes. He stated that it is a known fact that drug traffic follows drug abusers. In conclusion, he urged the board not to put the community in jeopardy and to reject this request. …

52. The Borough Manager testified that “in her 30-year career in local politics, she had never seen such a passionate and heated reaction of a populous directed against a proposal in Chalfont.” She also stated that “there’s never been anything nearly like that before. I’ve never seen dissention like this before.” 

53. An August 6, 1996 newspaper article quoted Dr. McDermott, “I can’t think of a faster way to destroy a community than to put a facility like this in it.” Dr. McDermott later testified, “I don’t recall making that statement. That sounds like something a newspaper writer stated.” 

54. Another article written by the same reporter quoted Dr. McDermott as saying, “These are not the kind of people you want in the community. People here are frightened and they should be.” Dr. McDermott also denied making this statement. 

55. The Defendants met Dr. Smock while Dr. Smock was attempting to visit neighbors of the proposed site to discuss the crisis home. Dr. McDermott asked Dr. Smock whether the home would take patients in various diagnostic categories. The Defendants did not ask, nor did Dr. Smock volunteer, how often people in these categories actually came to the home. 

56. Shortly after this meeting with Dr. Smock, the Defendants circulated 500 copies of a leaflet which stated, in part,

On August 8, Dr. Smock and an assistant (from the company’s psychiatric facility in Allentown, called Salisbury House, Inc.) spoke to several persons whose homes adjoin the Warren farm property on Hibiscus Drive. They told some neighbors that the planned facility would be for depressed patients only, would have no drug addicts, and that patients could not go around the neighborhood. Shortly afterward, Paul and Andrea McDermott (Hibiscus Dr.) And Cory and Linda Nolan (Lilac La.) TOGETHER questioned Dr. Smock and learned a whole different set of facts. Specifically, as Dr. McDermott cautioned at the Borough Planning Commission meeting, Dr. Smock acknowledged that the patients could include those with Antisocial Disorders (such individuals can be very dangerous), Bipolar Disorders (often called manic/depressives, these patients can be particularly volatile in their manic states), Borderline Disorders (these can be very unstable), and Paranoid Schizophrenics. Also, Dr. Smock clarified that, while patients would not have Substance Abuse (e.g. drug addiction) as their primary diagnosis, they may well have Substance Abuse as their secondary diagnosis. The primary versus secondary distinction simply indicates which disorder the facility chooses to attempt to treat first. The fact is that a psychiatric disorder with secondary drug abuse can easily be far more problematic or dangerous than drug abuse without a psychiatric disorder. Dr. Smock admitted that these patients would include psychotics--that is, persons so disturbed that they suffer hallucinations and delusions and fail to test reality. (Hallucinations include seeing or hearing things that do not exist; delusions are whole thought systems that are not based in reality; failure to test reality is when patients do not attempt to confirm whether things are real or imaginary.) Psychotic patients frequently behave and act out on the basis of their hallucinations and delusions, and thus can be very dangerous to themselves and to others. As for the serious psychiatric medication that patients are supposed to take, Dr. Smock said that this process is monitored by “staff”. “Staff” does not pertain to doctors or nurses. Moreover, Dr. Smock did not provide evidence that “monitoring” was a reliable process.

   
Dr. Smock confirmed that the facility would have no psychiatrist in residence, no psychologist in residence, and no psychiatric nurse in residence.

  
In response to the questioning, Dr. Smock said that patients could walk out of the facility at any time they wished. The patients are there voluntarily and therefore cannot be prevented from going where they want, when they want. . . .

   
All of us have shared our belief, without reservation, that mental illness is a serious affliction, that its victims suffer greatly, and that proper restorative treatment is always desirable. But this understanding and compassion should not translate into a situation where attempts to remedy the mental health woes of the few will jeopardize the public safety, economic  stability, and mental health of the many.

   
This is a very serious matter that could change our hometown forever. Many more institutions are looking for a place to settle. Next could be your residential neighborhood. Your attendance and contribution at Chalfont Borough Council on Tuesday, August 20th is very important. Please, let’s help one another.
57. Several of the community members who opposed the crisis home identified the Defendants as their source of information. 

58. The statements made in the leaflets prepared and circulated by the Defendants and at the Borough Planning Commission meeting were sufficient to engender fear and suspicion in an ordinary reader untrained in psychology. These statements also contributed to the widespread community opposition to the crisis home which made the Chalfont site a less attractive option to the Plaintiff. 

59. Because of the opposition in Chalfont Borough, the Plaintiff elected to abandon its attempt to open a crisis home there. 

60. The Plaintiff’s real estate agent informed the Plaintiff that the sellers of the property were receiving threatening telephone calls and wanted to back out of the sale. 

61. Dr. Volosov and Dr. Smock were informed of threats to bomb the property, although no such threats were made to them directly, and the source of any such threat has not been conclusively established. 

62. Dr. Smock concurred with the decision to abandon the crisis home in Chalfont Borough because “this was a very volatile and dangerous situation, and that I thought it was unwise for the safety of a population, who for the most part who are totally unable to defend themselves, to place them in that particular home.” …

64. After the Plaintiff withdrew its attempt to open the home, many community members signed a card congratulating the Defendants on leading the fight. 

65. The Defendants are not aware of anyone else who may have written and distributed leaflets, called neighbors, or otherwise engaged in organizing activity against the proposed crisis home. …

Discussion. … The Plaintiff … argues that the Defendants’ conduct violates §3617 of the FHAA. … The language of §3617 prohibits coercion, intimidation, threats, and interference. The only form of prohibited conduct which may be relevant to this case is interference. There is no evidence that the Plaintiff’s decision to abandon its plans to locate a crisis home in Chalfont Borough was the result of direct coercion. And although the director of Salisbury House Allentown testified that he felt intimidated by a group of neighbors which included the Defendants, there is insufficient evidence to establish that this meeting intimidated the Plaintiff corporation into abandoning its plan. Nor has the Plaintiff identified any threats against it made by the Defendants themselves. Although there was evidence of a threat to firebomb the property, there was no evidence linking this threat to the Defendants. Therefore, if the Defendants were to be held liable for violating §3617, it would be for interfering with the exercise of rights guaranteed by the FHAA. 

   
Here, we are once again presented with an ambiguous term within the statute for which the parties suggest opposing interpretations. The Third Circuit has not yet interpreted the term “interfere” in this context. In fact, very few courts nationwide have addressed this particular issue. One of the only courts to have done so wrote,  

The Court does not believe that Congress could have intended “interfere” to be applied in its broadest sense. The word “interfere” has a very broad meaning, signifying both hindrance and trespass. Black’s Law Dictionary defines it to mean “to enter into, or to take part in, the concerns of others.” If an individual could be found liable under §3617 for hindering any protected person’s enjoyment of rights guaranteed under §§3603-3606, then a whole range of otherwise innocuous conduct would fall under §3617. For example, a competing bidder could be seen as interfering with a plaintiff’s right to enjoy housing.
Michigan Protection and Advocacy Service v. Babin, 799 F.Supp. 695, 724 (E.D. Mich. 1992), aff’d 18 F.3d 337 (6th Cir. 1994).

   
We concur with the reasoning of the Babin Court. In addition, we are concerned about potential First Amendment conflicts which may arise were we to interpret “interfere” in its broadest sense. We are also persuaded by the doctrine of ejusdem generis. Under this canon of statutory construction, “when a general term follows a specific one, the general term should be understood as a reference to subjects akin to the one with specific enumeration.” Norfolk and Western Ry. Co. v. American Train Dispatchers Ass’n, 499 U.S. 117, 129 (1991). Thus, the more general term, “interfere,” will be construed in a manner consistent with the three infinitive verbs which precede it. “Coerce,” “intimidate,” and “threaten,” all suggest some type of compulsion. Therefore, we will read the term “interfere,” as it is used in §3617, to denote conduct in which a defendant uses some type of force or compulsion to deprive an individual of his or her rights under the FHAA.  

   
We do not believe that the conduct of the Defendants rises to this level. The Defendants’ words, while misleading and inflammatory, did not overcome the corporate “will” of the Plaintiff corporation or its representatives to the point that the decision to abandon the planned home in Chalfont Borough was a product of some form of duress. …

(  (  (  (  (  (  (

GOURLAY v. FOREST LAKE ESTATES CIVIC ASS’N 

276 F.Supp.2d 1222, order vacated after settlement, 2003 WL 22149660 (M.D. Fla. 2003)
MOODY, District Judge. THIS CAUSE comes before the Court upon Forest Lake Estates Civic Association[’s] (“FLECA”) … Motion for Summary Judgment…. [T]his Court concludes that summary judgment should be granted in part.

BACKGROUND.  This is an action brought under the federal Fair Housing Act … (the “FHA”) and Florida’s Fair Housing Act, Fla. Stat.§760.20, et seq. (the “FFHA”), against a homeowner’s association and the vice president of that association for alleged housing discrimination based on familial status. In October 1999, Steven Gourlay purchased a house in the Forest Lakes Estates neighborhood. The Forest Lakes Estates neighborhood has a voluntary homeowner’s association, FLECA, which was assigned the right to enforce deed restrictions by the developer of the Forest Lakes Estates neighborhood. At all times relevant to this case, Walter Lucas (“Lucas”) was an officer or director of FLECA authorized to act on its behalf.

 
After moving into their home, Plaintiffs became licensed foster parents1 and a varying number of foster children were placed in their home. In 2001, Plaintiffs installed playground equipment in their backyard. In the fall of 2001, FLECA and Lucas received complaints from some of Plaintiffs’ neighbors regarding the playground equipment and the state of Plaintiffs’ yard. Lucas contacted Plaintiffs about the complaints. Lucas asked Plaintiffs to install shrubs or a tarp to block the neighbors view to end the neighbors’ complaints. In response, Plaintiffs installed a tarp, blocking the view into their backyard.2

Over a year later …, FLECA and Lucas received additional complaints about the numbers of children playing at Plaintiffs’ home and the state of Plaintiffs’ yard. Additionally, some neighbors speculated that Plaintiffs were [improperly] operating a daycare out of their home. In September 2002, Corinna Gourlay approached Lucas about widening or adding an additional driveway to the Plaintiffs’ home for a new van. During this conversation, Lucas first became aware that Plaintiffs had foster children living in their home. The parties dispute what was said in that conversation. According to Corinna Gourlay, Lucas told her that he would not approve the widening of the driveway until after the foster children issue was resolved. According to Lucas, he told Corinna Gourlay that any widening of the driveway would require approval of FLECA’s architectural committee and he would drop off a form to get the committee’s approval, which he later did. He also told Corinna Gourlay that he would have to look into the foster children issue and was glad that Plaintiffs were not operating a daycare.


… [S]everal days after the Corinna Gourlay-Lucas conversation, FLECA sent a letter through its lawyer, Donald Peyton, to Steven Gourlay, indicating that FLECA believed Plaintiffs violated and were violating several deed restrictions, including: (a) a single family restriction that allowed for up to five unrelated persons to reside in a house; and (b) by installing structures on Plaintiffs’ property without architectural committee approval. The demand letter requested a written response and assurances of future compliance from Steven Gourlay or FLECA would commence litigation.

 
Plaintiffs never responded to Peyton’s letter in writing, … [but] Corrina Gourlay called Peyton and was told that the single family restriction required Plaintiffs to remove the foster children from their home. Several days later, Steven Gourlay went to a FLECA meeting to discuss widening his driveway. According to Steven Gourlay, he discussed with Lucas the foster children issue. Lucas purportedly asked Gourlay “what would this neighborhood be like if everybody had foster kids ....” Lucas’s version of the conversation is different, but he agrees that the foster children were discussed.4 

 
On October 7, 2002, FLECA filed a declaratory judgment action in state court against Steven Gourlay, seeking a determination … of whether Steven Gourlay violated the single family deed restriction by allowing more than five unrelated people to live together in Plaintiffs home5 … [and] of whether Gourlay violated the deed restrictions by installing playground equipment without architectural committee approval. The State Court action did not seek to evict Plaintiffs or their foster children and did not seek any other form of declaratory or injunctive relief.

 
On October 22, 2002, the Gourlays filed a five count complaint in this Court, seeking damages and injunctive relief for violations of the FHA, the FFHA, and for selective enforcement of the deed restrictions. Plaintiffs claimed that FLECA and Lucas violated the FHA and FFHA by:

(1) denying them the use and enjoyment of their residence because of their familial status;

(2) constructively making their residence unavailable because of their familial status;

(3) discriminating against them in their provision of services or facilities because of their familial status;

(4) printing, publishing, or causing to be made, printed, or published a notice, statement, or advertisement, with respect to the sale or rental of a dwelling that indicates a preference, limitation, or discrimination based on familial status or an intention to make such a preference, limitation, or discrimination;

(5) harassing them and attempting to force them out of their home; and

(6) coercing, intimidating, threatening, and interfering with Plaintiffs’ exercise and enjoyment of their housing rights.

 
Meanwhile, … [t]he State Court judge dismissed that portion of the State Court action which alleged that Steven Gourlay violated the single family residence restriction. The State Court judge reasoned that FLECA had not alleged that the five unrelated persons did not have some other legal familial relationship, like adoptees [and] therefore, did not sufficiently plead a violation of the single family restriction. The state court gave FLECA leave to amend its complaint. … On January 14, 2003, FLECA voluntarily dismissed the State Court action [because] Steven Gourlay had corrected the remaining deed restriction violations related to the playground equipment [and] . FLECA became satisfied … that the unrelated children in Plaintiffs’ home were foster children. …
LEGAL ANALYSIS.   … FLECA seeks this Court to interpret the FHA and the FFHA.7 Specifically, FLECA argues that: (1) because no sale, rental, or eviction occurred 42 U.S.C. §3604(a)-(c) cannot be violated; and (2) there was no actionable interference by FLECA under 42 U.S.C. §3617.


In interpreting statutes, a court is to begin the construction of a statutory provision with the words of that provision. If the plain meaning of the provision is unambiguous, then the judicial inquiry is complete. In the absence of a definition in a statute, courts look to dictionary definitions to ascertain the plain meaning of a word from its ordinary usage.  If the plain meaning of a provision is not “entirely transparent,” a court is to resort to the canons of construction to determine the meaning of a statutory provision by focusing on the broader, statutory context. Several canons of construction are useful in this case.

First, when Congress includes particular language in one provision of a statute but omits that same language in another section of the same statute, it is presumed that Congress intentionally excluded the omitted language. Second, courts are to interpret statutes in a manner that avoids constitutional difficulty.8  Third, when a general term in a statute follows a specific one, the general term should be understood as a reference to and in the context of the specific term. 


In the event that any provision of a statute is ambiguous, this Court is to defer to an administering agency’s reasonable interpretation of that provision. See Chevron U.S.A. v. Natural Resources Defense Council, 467 U.S. 837, 842-45 (1984). In 1989, Congress … authorized the Department of Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”) to issue regulations to interpret the FHA, which HUD subsequently issued.

 
A. INTERPRETATION OF SECTION 3604(a) OF THE FHA.  … Plaintiffs argue that the phrase “otherwise make unavailable” [in §3604(a)] should be broadly construed to include any housing practice that discriminates because of a protected classification, including discriminatory practices aimed at the use and enjoyment of a dwelling owned by a protected person. FLECA argues that the phrase only makes unlawful practices that make a dwelling unavailable for sale or rent.


After close consideration, this Court concludes that “otherwise makes unavailable” makes unlawful any housing practice that affects the availability of housing because of a protected classification. First, while not cited by either party, the Eleventh Circuit has previously considered the meaning of the phrase “otherwise makes unavailable” under Section 3604(a). See Jackson v. Okaloosa County, 21 F.3d 1531, 1542 (11th Cir.1994).

 
In that case, the Eleventh Circuit held that a plaintiff had stated a claim under Section 3604(a) by alleging that a discriminatory county policy prevented integration of the community and promoted segregated housing. The Eleventh Circuit stated that the “otherwise make unavailable” language prohibited discriminatory practices that affect the availability of housing, like racial steering, adoption of restrictive zoning laws, or insurance redlining. See id. While the examples listed by the Eleventh Circuit are not exhaustive, the examples are illustrative of the conduct prohibited under Section 3604(a), which is discriminatory conduct that directly impacts a plaintiff’s ability to locate in an area or obtain housing and not conduct that just allegedly interferes with the use or enjoyment of a dwelling after that dwelling is purchased.10 


Plaintiffs have failed to show any evidence that FLECA directly deprived a protected person a housing opportunity. There is no evidence that FLECA was involved in anyway in any real estate transactions or was affiliated with a broker, real estate agent, appraiser, or home insurer. There is no evidence that FLECA is consulted in anyway by the City or County in zoning or building permits. FLECA provides no services, except for maintenance of common areas.


Second, other courts in and outside of this circuit, likewise, have concluded that Section 3604(a) only prohibits discriminatory conduct that directly impacts a plaintiff’s ability to locate in an area and/or secure housing. See Michigan Protection and Advocacy Service v. Babin, 18 F.3d 337, 343- 46 (6th Cir.1994) (concluding that neighbors were not liable for bidding against protected group even though their bid was motivated by discriminatory animus); Clifton Terrace Assocs. v. United Technologies Corp., 929 F.2d 714, 719 (D.C.Cir.1991) (holding that the FHA addresses problems of housing availability not problems of housing habitability)…. 

Third, to the extent that Jackson and the other cases cited do not adequately address the definition of “otherwise make unavailable” ..., an analysis of the plain meaning of the text at issue counsels against the tortured reading that Plaintiffs propose. “Unavailable” means not “accessible or capable of being obtained.” See Webster’s Third New Int’l Dictionary (1993). To otherwise make a dwelling unavailable, therefore, means to make not capable of being obtained or accessed, implying that the protected person has not yet purchased a dwelling.  Nothing in the language of Section 3604(a) implies protection against alleged discrimination in the use or enjoyment of a dwelling years or decades after a dwelling is purchased.11 

Fourth, any lack of transparency in this phrase is resolved by using the statutory rules of construction. The context of the phrase occurs in a provision that involves real estate or prospective real estate transactions. The general phrase “otherwise makes unavailable” should be interpreted with reference to these more specific phrases. It should, therefore, be limited to practices that affect a protected persons opportunity to obtain a dwelling or housing in an area.


Additionally, if Section 3604(a) already included discrimination based on use or enjoyment of a purchased dwelling, Congress would not have needed to codify Section 3604(f)(3), which prohibits discrimination against disabled persons affecting their use or enjoyment of a dwelling, because that protection would have already existed. This Court is not to construe a provision of a statute to be surplusage, and Congress’s intentional omission of use and enjoyment language from Section 3604(a), while using it 3604(f)(3)(B), means that Congress did not intend protection of use and enjoyment under Section 3604(a).13 


Further, this Court is concerned that to construe Section 3604(a) as broadly as Plaintiffs’ request would potentially run afoul of the First Amendment. For example, Plaintiff’s argument suggests that under Section 3604(a) any discriminatory comment or epithet made by any person could be actionable, if it in any way restricted that persons use or enjoyment of their home.14 Generally, the First Amendment protects a party who files a court proceeding or otherwise publicly speaks about a neighbor, even if that conduct is motivated by discriminatory animus. See, e.g., White v. Lee, 227 F.3d 1214, 1232-37 (9th Cir.2000) (holding that First Amendment protected neighbors from FHA investigation unless they threatened imminent lawless action or filed objectively baseless lawsuits). … This Court chooses to avoid the serious constitutional questions raised by Plaintiffs’ interpretation of Section 3604(a), and instead interpret Section 3604(a) more narrowly and require some connection to or impact on the availability of housing. 

Finally, to the extent that Section 3604(a) is ambiguous, HUD has promulgated a regulation interpreting both Sections 3604(a) and (b). See 24 C.F.R. §100.70. As part of that regulation, HUD listed examples of prohibited conduct. See 24 C.F.R. §100.70(c)-(d). While this list is not exhaustive, none of the prohibited activities listed deals with a protected persons use or enjoyment of a dwelling after purchase. 

Based upon the foregoing analysis, this Court limits Section 3604(a) to conduct that directly impacts the accessibility to housing because of a protected classification.17 While this Court in no way condones or adopts the allegedly ill-advised comments and actions undertaken by FLECA, its officers, and agents, Plaintiffs produced no evidence that any of the actions taken by FLECA made their dwelling inaccessible for purchase, sale or rent. Similarly, Plaintiffs produced no evidence that FLECA involved itself or will involve itself in any potential real estate transaction because of familial status or any other protected category. The only alleged discriminatory conduct by FLECA occurred three years after the purchase by the Plaintiffs of their home, and this conduct did not “otherwise make unavailable” the Plaintiffs’ home. Therefore, FLECA cannot be liable to Plaintiffs under 42 U.S.C. §3604(a)….18 


B. INTERPRETATION OF SECTION 3604(b) OF THE FHA … [T]his Court concludes that Section 3604(b) only prohibits the discriminatory provision of services and facilities in connection with a sale of a dwelling. The context of the use of the phrase “in connection therewith” clearly limits claims for discriminatory provision of services to the provision of those services in connection with a sale, because the preceding sentence mentions only the sale or rental of a dwelling.20 Additionally, Congress would not have needed to codify Section 3604(f)(3) because that protection would have already existed in Section 3604(f)(2), which is almost identical to Section 3604(b). This Court is not to construe a provision of a statute to be surplusage, and Congress’s intentional omission of use and enjoyment language from Section 3604(b) while using it in Section 3604(f)(3) means that Congress did not intend that type of protection under Section 3604(b).


Additionally, several courts have concluded that “services” under 3604(b) applies to discrimination in the provision of services that preclude ownership. See Halprin v. The Prairie Single Family Homes of Dearborn Park Ass’n, 208 F.Supp.2d 896, 901 (dismissing complaint involving a claim that homeowner’s association enforcement of restrictive covenants was a “service”); see also Clifton Terrace Assocs., 929 F.2d at 720 (differentiating in the rental context between municipal services and services provided by other entities).


Finally, this Court is unclear what “service” was allegedly denied to Plaintiffs because Plaintiffs failed to indicate what service was denied to them in their response to FLECA’s motion for summary judgment. This Court would speculate that the “services” that Plaintiffs complain about is FLECA’s alleged denial of the additional or widened driveway or the enforcement by FLECA of the deed restrictions. “[S]ervices” as used in Section 3604(b), however, would not include rules, policies, or practices of FLECA…. Because Plaintiffs the alleged discriminatory misconduct by FLECA occurred nearly three years after the Plaintiffs purchased their house and there is no evidence that any discriminatory conduct precluded Plaintiffs’ ownership of a dwelling, this Court concludes that FLECA cannot be liable to Plaintiffs under 42 U.S.C. §3604(b)….

C. INTERPRETATION OF SECTION 3604(c) OF THE FHA. … The plain language of Section 3604(c) indicates that to create liability either a sale or rental of a dwelling needs to occur or at least be potentially occurring. Most courts that have considered this issue have concluded that the plain meaning of Section 3604(c) require a sale or rental or prospective sale or rental. See, e.g. Halprin, 208 F.Supp.2d at 901-02 (listing cases); United States v. Space Hunters, Inc., 2001 WL 968993, at *5 (S.D.N.Y. 2001) (dismissing Section 3604(c) claim because statements must be about a dwelling that is being sold or rented and must be said by someone having a connection to the transaction); Michigan Protection and Advocacy Service, 799 F.Supp. at 716 (holding similarly). HUD’s regulation interpreting Section 3604(c) confirms this Court’s and other courts interpretation. See 24 C.F.R. §100.75. The HUD regulation suggests that Section 3604(c) is limited to discriminatory advertisements, statements, and notices related to a sale or rental of a property. Based on the foregoing, this Court concludes that there was no violation of Section 3604(c) … because any alleged discriminatory conduct was not in connection with a sale or rental or potential sale or rental of Plaintiffs’ dwelling. 

D. INTERPRETATION OF SECTION 3617 OF THE FHA.  … The Eleventh Circuit, unlike most courts, has concluded that Section 3617 does not require proof of violation of Sections 3603-3606 in order to create liability. See Sofarelli v. Pinellas County, 931 F.2d 718, 722 (11th Cir.1991); but see Frazier v. Rominger, 27 F.3d 828, 834 (2d Cir.1994) (holding that Section 3617 is limited to violations of Sections 3603-3606). Under the Eleventh Circuit’s interpretation, it appears that liability exists if a plaintiff can demonstrate that: 

(1) a defendant coerced, intimidated, threatened, or interfered; 

(2) with a --

(a) plaintiff’s exercise of a right under Sections 3603-3606; 


(b) plaintiff’s enjoyment of a housing right after exercise of that right; or 


(c) plaintiff’s aid or encouragement to a protected person to exercise or enjoy a 
housing right; 

(3) because of discriminatory animus. 
See Sofarelli, 931 F.2d at 721-23. Therefore, Section 3617 regulates discriminatory conduct before, during, or after a sale or rental of a dwelling.25

In this case, summary judgment hinges on the meaning this Court gives to the phrase “to coerce, intimidate, threaten, or interfere.” The plain meaning of the first three words, coerce, intimidate, and threaten, requires either violent conduct or threatening conduct.26 The fourth word of this phrase, interfere, is more general and could conceivably extend broadly to any conduct that limits a protected persons use or enjoyment of a dwelling. Under the canons of statutory construction, however, the general word interfere should be interpreted in reference to and in context with the first three words of this provision. This Court concludes that the use of the phrase “interference” in Section 3617 extends only to discriminatory conduct that is so severe or pervasive that it will have the effect of causing a protected person to abandon the exercise of his or her housing rights. 

The cases that have discussed Section 3617 independently of a violation of Sections 3603-3606 have all required this level of conduct. For example, in Sofarelli, the Eleventh Circuit stated that “leaving a note threatening ‘to break [Sofarelli] in half’ if he did not get out of the neighborhood and running up to one of Sofarelli’s trucks, hitting it, shouting obscenities and spitting at Sofarelli” along with making racial slurs in a newspaper were actionable under Section 3617. Other courts have found similar behavior that’s designed to drive a protected person out of a dwelling or neighborhood to be actionable. See United States v. Pospisil, 127 F.Supp.2d 1059, 1062-63 (W.D.Mo.2000) (concluding summary judgment should be denied on a §3617 claim because defendant had engaged in cross burning); Egan v. Schmock, 93 F.Supp.2d 1090, 1092-93 (N.D.Cal.2000) (dismissing §3617 claim because plaintiffs had not alleged discriminatory conduct was aimed at driving plaintiffs out of their home); U.S. v. Weisz, 914 F.Supp. 1050 (S.D.N.Y.1996) (dismissing complaint that contained only a couple of allegations of religious based discrimination between feuding neighbors).27 These cases suggest that to constitute actionable coercion, harassment, intimidation or interference the discriminatory conduct, in the absence of a violation of §§3603-3606, must be severe (i.e. violence or threats of violence) and/or pervasive, similar to the discriminatory conduct necessary under Title VII to support a hostile work environment claim.28 

 
Such an approach is appealing and makes sense to this Court for several reasons. First, other courts have already imported other aspects of Title VII into the FHA. Second, such an approach avoids the FHA becoming an all purpose cause of action for neighbors of different races, origins, faiths, or with different types or concepts of families to bring neighborhood feuds into federal court when the dispute has little or no actual relation to housing discrimination. Third, this Court has serious constitutional concerns in a case like this case where, arguably, Plaintiffs are trying to regulate speech because of its emotive impact on the Plaintiffs. If this Court applies Title VII standards, this concern is lessened because the Supreme Court has repeatedly upheld or cited Title VII as a permissible content neutral regulation of conduct under the First Amendment. 

In this case, the question of whether the discriminatory conduct is severe and pervasive is a close call because: (a) no violence or property damage occurred; (b) there was no threat of violence or imminent lawless action by FLECA; (c) the number, content, and context of discriminatory statements in the record is much more limited and less offensive30 than in the cases cited above; and (d) the one alleged discriminatory action is the filing of a lawsuit.31 Neither party, however, has applied or argued the facts of this case under this standard. Similarly, neither party has briefed the extent that the First Amendment would protect FLECA’s public statements and right to file a lawsuit. This Court will defer further consideration of this motion to allow the parties to submit additional briefs on these issues. 

(  (  (  (  (  (  (
DISCUSSION QUESTIONS
43.  Gourlay and McDermott each attempt to explain the meaning of “interfere” in §3617.  For each case, answer each of the following:

(a) How does the court define “interfere”?

(b) How does the court arrive at its definition?

(c) Is its reasoning persuasive?

(d) Assuming you were in a jurisdiction in which neither case was binding, what arguments do you see about whether the conduct at issue in the case should be treated as unlawful under §3617?
(b) Relation to §§3603-3606

FRAZIER v. ROMINGER

27 F.3d 828 (2d Cir. 1994) 

WALKER, Circuit Judge:  
[The facts of Frazier are found on pp. 37-39 above].

II. 
Motion for a New Trial.  Plaintiffs, joined by amicus curiae The National Fair Housing Alliance, next argue that the district court erred in denying them a new trial after refusing to charge the jury as to a cause of action for interference with the plaintiffs’ Fair Housing Act rights.  See 42 U.S.C. §3617.  We believe that a charge premised upon §3617 was not warranted in this case. ...

Under its terms, the statute protects two distinct groups of individuals. First, it safeguards members of the protected class from coercion, intimidation, threats, or interference in the exercise or enjoyment of their Fair Housing Act rights.  See, e.g., Stirgus v. Benoit, 720 F.Supp. 119, 123 (N.D.Ill.1989) (firebombing of plaintiff’s house);  Stackhouse v. DeSitter, 620 F.Supp. 208, 209-10 (N.D.Ill.1985) (firebombing of plaintiff’s automobile);  U.S. v. American Inst. of Real Estate Appraisers, 442 F.Supp. 1072, 1079 (N.D.Ill.1977) (use of race as a factor in appraisals);  Laufman v. Oakley Bldg. & Loan Co., 408 F.Supp. 489, 498 (S.D.Ohio 1976) (denying insurance based on racial composition of the neighborhood).  Second, it protects third parties, not necessarily members of the protected class, who aid or encourage protected class members in the exercise or enjoyment of their Fair Housing Act rights. See, e.g., Smith v. Stechel, 510 F.2d 1162, 1164 (9th Cir.1975) (managers of apartment complex fired for renting to Mexican Americans);  Wilkey v. Pyramid Constr. Co., 619 F.Supp. 1453, 1454 (D.Conn. 1985) (rental agency secretary fired for refusing to discriminate against minorities…).

Plaintiffs claim that Mr. Frazier’s questioning of Mr. Rominger’s potential bias constituted the “exercise or enjoyment of” one of his rights under the Fair Housing Act, and that Mr. Rominger’s refusal to rent because of this questioning constituted “interference” under §3617.  We are therefore faced with the somewhat peculiar argument by plaintiffs that the defendants’ refusal to rent to plaintiffs is at the same time a §3604(a) discrimination and a §3617 interference, thus giving rise to two separate causes of action.

The fallacy in plaintiffs’ argument lies in their equating the “right” to question defendants’ motivation as racial with a “right granted or protected by section 3603, 3604, 3605, or 3606” of the Fair Housing Act. Section 3617 prohibits the interference with the exercise of Fair Housing rights only as enumerated in these referenced sections, which define the substantive violations of the Act.  These sections provide that prospective tenants have a right not to be discriminated against on account of their race in a wide variety of housing transactions. Nowhere in these sections, however, can be found a right to question the potential racial motivations of landlords.  Thus, the alleged §3617 “interference” in this case is without a predicate.

Moreover, the only “interference” that plaintiffs can claim is the actual denial of rental housing.  However, under this theory, every allegedly discriminatory denial of housing under §3604(a) would also constitute a violation of §3617 in that the denial “interfered” with the prospective tenant’s Fair Housing Act rights.  Declining to believe that Congress ever intended such a statutory overlap, we believe that the plaintiffs’ sole remedy in this case existed in their §3604(a) cause of action.  Because the plaintiffs did not state a cause of action under §3617 separate and distinct from their cause of action under §3604(a), the district court did not err in refusing to grant the plaintiffs a new trial on their purported §3617 claim.

(  (  (  (  (  (  (
STIRGUS v. BENOIT
720 F. Supp. 119 (N.D. Ill. 1989)

NICHOLAS J. BUA, DISTRICT JUDGE.  This lawsuit stems from the firebombing of plaintiff’s house. Plaintiff asserts several federal and state law claims for violations of her civil rights. Defendant[s] moved to dismiss the complaint … for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. … [D]efendants’ motions are denied…. 

Plaintiff Dorothy Stirgus is a black woman who purchased a new home in a predominantly white neighborhood in Chicago, Illinois. The defendants, John Benoit, Patrick Doyle, William English, and John Waitman, are white residents of Chicago, Illinois. Stirgus alleges that…, ten days after she moved into her house, the defendants propelled incendiary devices (commonly known as “Molotov cocktails”) through her kitchen window. A fire started immediately. Although the blaze caused substantial damage to her house, Stirgus was able to escape the burning building safely. Subsequently, defendants were arrested and charged with aggravated arson for the firebombing of Stirgus’ house. Stirgus claims that the incident was racially motivated, and that defendants agreed to firebomb her house to prevent her from living in that neighborhood. Her … complaint asserts violations of [§1982 and §3617, among other state and federal claims]

Section 1982.  Stirgus alleges that the firebombing of her home deprived her of the right to enjoy and hold her property on an equal basis with white citizens.  Defendants argue that her claim must be dismissed because she did not allege state action and because the firebombing is not the type of activity that is prohibited by section 1982. 

Contrary to defendants’ position, state action need not be alleged to seek redress under section 1982. The Supreme Court has firmly established that the statute directly applies to private parties. City of Memphis v. Greene, 451 U.S. 100, 120 (1981) (citing Jones v. Alfred H. Mayer Co.).
Despite the fact that a private party may assert a section 1982 claim, defendants contend that Stirgus’ claim does not fall within the scope of section 1982. This court disagrees. Section 1982 protects “the right of black persons to hold and acquire property on an equal basis with white persons and the right of blacks not to have property interests impaired because of their race.” Id. at 122. Although section 1982 “is not a comprehensive open housing law,” Jones, the Supreme Court has broadly interpreted and applied the statutory language … to give full effect to its remedial measures. City of Memphis. …

Indeed, the firebombing of Stirgus’ house is precisely the type of discriminatory conduct that section 1982 is designed to remedy. When a racially-motivated firebombing destroys a person’s home, that person does not truly enjoy the same freedom to acquire    and “hold” property as a similarly situated white citizen. See Waheed v. Kalafut (N.D. Ill. 1988) (firebombing of black family’s house sufficient to support a section 1982 claim); Pina v. Abington (E.D. Pa. May 22, 1978) (black family did not “hold” their property on an equal basis with white residents because of the city’s failure to provide them with the same police protection that white residents received). Defendants’ argument that section 1982 prohibits racial discrimination in the sale or lease of property, but not acts of discrimination which essentially prevent the victim from living on that property once it is acquired is untenable and contrary to the plain meaning of the statute.

Since the mid-1950s, the approach taken by the High Court has been to accord Reconstruction civil rights statutes “a sweep as broad as [their] language.” Griffin v. Breckenridge, 403 U.S. 88, 97 (1971) (quoting United States v. Price, 383 U.S. 787, 801, (1966)). This court should do no less. Stirgus’ claim that the defendants firebombed her home to keep her from living in that neighborhood is sufficient to withstand defendants’ motions to dismiss. …

Fair Housing Act.  Stirgus claims … that defendants “intended to and did coerce, intimidate, threaten or interfere” with the exercise and enjoyment of her property rights on account of her race, in violation of … §3617. … While defendants … argue that this claim must be dismissed because it bears no relationship to Stirgus’ rights under section 3604, they do not dispute that section 3617 may still be violated absent a violation of section 3604 or any of the other sections enumerated in section 3617.  Whether or not the firebombing of Stirgus’ house violated any other section of the Fair Housing Act, this brutal act falls squarely within the parameters of section 3617. See Waheed (racially-motivated firebombing of plaintiff’s house falls within the purview of section 3617); Stackhouse v. DeSitter, 620 F. Supp. 208, 211(N.D. Ill. 1985) (firebombing of black family’s car in an attempt to frighten them away from the neighborhood is within the range of activity prohibited by section 3617); Seaphus v. Lilly, 691 F. Supp. 127, 139 (N.D. Ill. 1988) (violence and property damage aimed at inducing black residents to move out of their home prohibited by section 3617). By alleging that defendants ignited her home to intimidate and coerce her into moving out of the neighborhood because of her race, Stirgus has come forward with enough facts to state a claim under the Fair Housing Act. …
(  (  (  (  (  (  (
WILKEY v. PYRAMID CONSTRUCTION CO.

619 F.Supp. 1453 (D. Conn. 1985) 

DORSEY, District Judge. Plaintiff, Beverly Wilkey, was employed by defendants, Pyramid Construction Company and Majestic Construction Company, Inc.  Defendants are alleged to own and manage the Sutton Park Apartments in Bloomfield, Connecticut.  Plaintiff worked as a part-time rental secretary, who received applications from, and showed and rented apartments to, prospective tenants. Plaintiff, who is white, alleges that it was defendants’ policy to discriminate on the basis of race by depriving black applicants of the opportunity to view and rent apartments on an equal basis with whites.  Plaintiff alleges that her opposition to defendants’ asserted policy of racial discrimination, and her unwillingness to adhere to it, caused or contributed to her eventual discharge some ten weeks after she took the position.  Plaintiff seeks money damages and injunctive relief.  Her ... complaint asserts violations of ... the Fair Housing Act....  Defendants have moved to dismiss....  

Plaintiff’s first count is predicated on §3617.  She charges that defendants “coerc[ed], intimidat[ed] and threaten[ed] the plaintiff on account of her having aided or encouraged black persons in the exercise and enjoyment of their rights granted by 42 U.S.C. §3601 et seq.” She alleges that defendants’ coercion, intimidation and interference took the form of reducing her job responsibilities, and then terminating her employment. Defendants’ attacks on the viability of the §3617 claim ... are without merit.

Defendants first assert that plaintiff has failed adequately to allege steps taken which “aided or encouraged” others in the exercise of their rights.  Although defendants acknowledge plaintiff’s claim that she accepted applications from, and showed and rented apartments to, black prospective tenants, defendants characterize that involvement as merely “performing her function as an employee.” According to defendants, the FHA requires those who would invoke its protection to take a more “active role” in furthering its objectives–such as, for example, by “recruit[ing] potential black tenants to the location ....” No authority supportive of this proposition has been cited or discovered.3  “Aid” or “encouragement” under §3617 does not require anything more–qualitatively or quantitatively–than what plaintiff did here. On its face and as construed by the courts, §3617 is not limited to plaintiffs whose “aid” or “encouragement” to persons exercising fair housing rights is given outside the confines of their job descriptions.

Nor is there even colorable merit in defendants’ attempt to challenge plaintiff’s standing in this case by seeking to minimize or distinguish the relevance of the decisions in Tokaji v. Toth, 1 Eq. Opp. Hsing Rptr. (PH) (13,679 (N.D.Ohio 1974) (recognizing a §3617 claim in favor of apartment building superintendents allegedly forced to vacate their apartments after expressing dissatisfaction with landlord’s policy not to rent to blacks); Smith v. Stechel, 510 F.2d 1162 (9th Cir.1975) (recognizing a §3617 action in favor of apartment managers fired for renting to blacks and Mexican- Americans);  and Vercher v. Harrisburg Housing Auth., 454 F.Supp. 423, 424 (M.D.Pa.1978) (noting that a plaintiff “discharged for his efforts to secure fair housing rights for others ... would clearly have a cause of action under §3617”).  While defendants are not incorrect in noting, that the cited authorities do not expressly determine the issue of standing, they hardly leave the question open.  Only a highly artificial reading of such decisions–a reading which would suggest that the authoring courts were oblivious to concerns of judicial administration–could permit the argument that these holdings are of no consequence in determining the preliminary standing question.

These authorities will not be so read, and §3617 is held to be invocable by a rental agent or secretary claiming to have been harassed, demoted and ultimately terminated for resisting and refusing to execute her employer’s allegedly racially discriminatory housing policies.  Accordingly, the motion to dismiss ... is denied. ...

(  (  (  (  (  (  (
DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

44.  On what language in the statute do the plaintiffs in Frazier rely for their §3617 claim?  Why did the court reject the claim?  Do you agree with the court’s analysis?  Is the analysis in Frazier consistent with the discussion of the relationship between §3604 and §3617 in Stirgus?

45.  The structure of §3617 suggests the cause of action has three parts:  
(i) The defendant engaged in conduct that could be characterized as one of the four verbs in the statute  

(ii) “on account of” someone exercising, trying to exercise, or helping someone exercise 

(iii) another FHA right.  
Try to explain how each of the following cases might arguably fit into this three-part structure:  Gourlay; Sofarelli (described in Gourlay at 99) McDermott; Stirgus; Wilkey
46.  A number of courts have held that §3617 cannot be violated absent proof of a violation of §§3603-3606.  Other courts disagree.  What arguments do you see about which position is stronger?

47.  Stirgus and other cases have held that some conduct that violates §3617 also violates §1982.  What arguments do you see about whether that conclusion is correct?
(2) Economic Interference
MICHIGAN PROTECTION AND ADVOCACY SERVICE v. BABIN
18 F.3d 337 (6th Cir. 1994)

BOGGS, Circuit Judge:  The plaintiffs filed several civil rights claims ... alleging that the defendants had denied and/or interfered with the plaintiffs’ right to equal access to housing.  The plaintiffs claim that their right to housing was violated when a house owner, who was negotiating ... to rent the house as a group home for mentally disabled adults, sold the house at a profit to neighbors of the property.  The plaintiffs allege that the seller’s motivation for selling and the neighbors’ motivation for buying the house were discriminatory.  The plaintiffs brought suit against the seller ... and the group of neighbors who helped raise the money to purchase the property.

On a motion for summary judgment, the district court ruled against the plaintiffs.... We hold that a proper interpretation of the text of the Fair Housing Amendments Act of 1988 does not reach the actions of the defendants in this case and we therefore affirm the district court’s grant of summary judgment for the defendants.

I.  In May 1988, the defendant Florence Hammonds was working as a real estate agent for Century 21 Town and Country Realty (“Century 21”).  At that time, a couple listed their house (“24 Mile Road property” or “the house”) with Century 21 and Hammonds marketed the property on their behalf.  After eight months on the market, however, Hammonds had not sold the house.  In November 1988, ... Hammonds contacted the Macomb-Oakland Regional Center (“MORC”), a state agency.  Hammonds asked MORC if it would be interested in leasing the property as a group home for mentally disabled adults if she purchased it.  MORC indicated that it was interested in leasing the property.

In early February 1989, Hammonds purchased the house for $95,000.  She paid a broker’s commission to Century 21 as the buyer, but recouped part of the commission as the real estate agent.  Hammonds also took out a home equity loan and a mortgage to finance the purchase.  According to Hammonds, in March 1989 MORC indicated that it would execute a written lease and begin paying rent to Hammonds by the middle of May 1989.  The leasing arrangements, however, did not progress as quickly as planned.  In April 1989, MORC informed her that the lease could not be executed until July 15, 1989, because MORC was still waiting for various state agencies to approve the arrangement.

Meanwhile, on April 26, MORC officials sent out a letter to residents in the vicinity of the 24 Mile Road property to inform them that the house would be used as a group home.  On April [29], Peggy Babin, a resident of the area, and five other neighbors met with Hammonds at Hammonds’s house to discuss the lease.  At the meeting, Hammonds attempted to allay the neighbors’ fears about having a group home in their neighborhood, but she also insisted on going through with her lease with MORC.

The neighbors1 then began a campaign to prevent the property from becoming a group home.  Peggy Babin organized a petition drive to stop the group home, contacted several newspapers about the drive, and prepared a “mailing” about group homes.  This mailing included 1) a newspaper article about a resident of a group home who had raped a nine-year old girl;  2) a list of addresses of people to write to express concern about the group home; 3) MORC’s April 26 letter with a note indicating that MORC was talking about a group home such as the one discussed in the enclosed newspaper article;  4) a sheet entitled “Group Homes:  Things You Should Know” that stated that the neighborhood would no longer be safe and property values would plummet if a group home was situated in the neighborhood;  and 5) form letters to send to Century 21 and MORC to express concern about the group home.

  
After the neighbors began their petition drive, Hammonds initiated a conversation with John Kersten, the owner ... of Century 21. Hammonds mentioned that she was concerned about the reaction of the neighbors to the proposed use of the 24 Mile Road property.  Kersten indicated that Hammonds would have to handle the situation herself.  On the morning of May 12, Hammonds met with MORC representatives about hastening the leasing arrangement.  According to Hammonds, the representatives promised to inquire about the delay in the approval of the lease and to call her that same day with an answer.  They did not call her.  Also, on May 12 a town meeting was held and approximately one hundred people showed up to express their concerns about the group home.  Hammonds did not attend the meeting.

On May 13, Nosh Ivanovic offered Hammonds $100,000 for the house.  On May 15, Hammonds made a counteroffer of $104,000.  Ivanovic was unable to raise the additional cash, so Scott Babin provided the funds.  Scott Babin, with the help of Paul Hebert, then solicited funds from the neighbors to offset his donation to Ivanovic.  Thomas Fortin donated $500.

The closing for the 24 Mile Road property took place on May 19.  No one from Century 21 was at the closing and Hammonds did not pay a commission to the agency.  Hammonds, however, used closing documents bearing the Century 21 logo, and the forms were pre-printed with Kersten’s signature as the broker for the sale.

Based on these facts, the plaintiffs filed this suit against Hammonds ... and the neighbors.  The plaintiffs allege that each of the defendants violated §3604(f)(1).... The plaintiffs also ... claim that all of the defendants interfered with the plaintiffs in the exercise of their rights to housing, in violation of §3617. ... [The court held that Hammonds was exempt under §3603(b) from liability for any violation of §3604].
III. C. 
The Neighbors  The plaintiffs contend that the neighbors are liable under  §3604(f)(1) because they solicited and contributed money to support the Ivanovics’ purchase of the house.2  According to the plaintiffs, the neighbors’ actions fall within the “otherwise make unavailable” language of the statute. ...

  
When Congress amended §3604(f) in 1988, it intended the section to reach not only actors who were directly involved in the real estate business, but also actors who directly affect the availability of housing, such as state or local governments.  The question presented by the plaintiffs’ claim is to what extent the phrase “otherwise make unavailable” reaches out to make unlawful actions that are removed from the central event of purchasing or leasing a dwelling but nonetheless have some effect on a person’s ability to acquire housing.  

In Growth Horizons, Inc. v. Delaware County, 983 F.2d 1277 (3d Cir.1993), the court faced a similar issue.  In that case, Growth Horizons provided community living arrangements for mentally disabled individuals.  Growth Horizons signed a contract with Delaware County to place fifteen people in community living arrangements, and Growth Horizons leased and renovated four sites for this purpose.  Growth Horizons opened one of the sites, but a state monitoring agency expressed concern about Growth Horizons’s management of the site.  The state agency recommended that Delaware County not permit Growth Horizons to open any other site unless the first site met appropriate standards.  Delaware County then canceled its contract with Growth Horizons, after giving the required notice.  

Growth Horizons sued Delaware County under the FHAA, alleging, among other things, that Delaware County’s failure to abide by the now-canceled contract and to assume leases on the sites was “the result of political pressure emanating from bias against the handicapped.” The court of appeals ... found that ... Growth Horizons did not have a meritorious claim under the FHAA.  The court found that “[t]he conduct and decision-making that Congress sought to affect was that of persons in a position to frustrate such choices--primarily, at least, those who own the property of choice and their representatives.”  Id. at 1283.

We agree with the Third Circuit that Congress’s intent in enacting §3604(f)(1) was to reach property owners and their agents who directly affect the availability of housing for a disabled individual. However, the scope of §3604(f)(1) may extend further, to other actors who, though not owners or agents, are in a position directly to deny a member of a protected group housing rights.  

The crucial issue of interpretation with respect to §3604(f)(1), as well as other sections of the act, is whether normal economic competition can constitute a violation under the act.  In a certain semantic sense, every purchase or sale “directly affects” everyone else who may be in competition. Sometimes that effect is very small, as when one buys a highly fungible and readily available commodity, such as a gallon of gasoline or a pound of potatoes.  However, if the commodity is artificially scarce or unique, the normal process of purchase and competition can have a much greater effect.  If a motorist is in line for the last gallon of gasoline available under price regulations, that purchase will effectively make the commodity unavailable to the next person in line.  If we secure the last good table at a fancy restaurant by bribing the maitre d’, we may have effectively prevented another person, even a member of a protected class, from enjoying the public accommodation at that moment.

Real estate, of course, is the quintessential unique commodity.  If we are able to purchase a house because we can offer more money, we have in one sense “denied” it to everyone else.  But that is not generally the way the word is used.  Only hyper-technical economists would normally say that we interfere with another person’s rights when we purchase a house in fair economic competition, just as most people would not say that we “directly affect” a merchant’s livelihood when we choose to patronize A, rather than B, no matter what the motive.

Given this general usage of the words, it would be a huge and unwarranted expansion of the act, with no hint of any congressional authority, to say that every purchaser or renter of property is liable under the act if his motives are found unworthy in such a purchase or rental transaction.  The entire language of the act, as well as the evils the act is aimed at as described in hearings and debates, was designed to target those who owned or disposed of property, and those who, in practical effect, assisted in those transactions of ownership and disposition.

Consequently, however broad §3604(f) may be, the scope of the statute cannot encompass the acts of the neighbors in this case.  Their action in collecting money to buy the house is not direct enough to fall within the terms of §3604(f)(1).  Under the plaintiffs’ interpretation of the statute, any action that results in the unavailability of housing for protected classes is actionable, no matter how attenuated.  We decline to extend the scope of §3604(f)(1) to accommodate the plaintiffs’ claims in this case.

The plaintiffs, however, argue that they have presented direct evidence of the neighbors’ discriminatory intent, and are thus entitled to summary judgment on the §3604(f)(1) claim against the neighbors.  They cite United States v. Scott, 788 F.Supp. 1555 (D.Kan.1992) to support their expansive reading of  §3604(f)(1).  In Scott, the United States sued the residents of a subdivision who attempted to block the sale of a home to a purchaser who intended to use the house as a group home.  The neighbors in that case sued in state court to enforce a covenant relating to single-family dwellings. The district court granted summary judgment to the United States on the grounds that the FHAA prohibited the enforcement of restrictive covenants that discriminate, or have the effect of discriminating, on the basis of disability. 

Scott, however, does not support the plaintiffs’ claims in this case.  As noted above, Congress intended §3604(f)(1) to apply to restrictive covenants and zoning laws.  If state and local governments cannot enforce discriminatory land use regulations, see United States v. City of Parma, 661 F.2d 562 (6th Cir.1981), cert. denied, 456 U.S. 926 (1982), it follows that private citizens cannot enforce restrictive covenants for discriminatory purposes. The plaintiffs in this case, however, have not adduced any evidence that indicates that Congress intended to include their particular claims within the scope of §3604(f)(1).


The plaintiffs argue that there is direct evidence of the neighbors’ discriminatory intent and that this evidence warrants summary judgment on their behalf.  The fatal flaw in this argument, however, is that the plaintiffs have failed to address the scope of the statute before advancing to the merits of their discrimination claim.  An act done with discriminatory intent is not illegal unless it falls within the scope of a federal statute or runs afoul of the Constitution.  Thus, patronizing a concert by Joan Baez but not one by Tina Turner is not actionable, even if done for discriminatory reasons.  We hold that the plaintiffs’ claim against the neighbors is not cognizable under §3604(f)(1) because the neighbors’ actions did not directly affect the availability of housing or impede a transaction that the plaintiffs were undertaking.  Accordingly, the district court was correct in granting summary judgment to the neighbors on this claim. ...

V.
The plaintiffs argue that all of the defendants violated 42 U.S.C. §3617 by interfering with the exercise and enjoyment of the plaintiffs’ right to fair housing.4 ... As the plaintiffs point out, the language “interfere with” has been broadly applied “to reach all practices which have the effect of interfering with the exercise of rights” under the federal fair housing laws.  United States v. American Inst. of Real Estate Appraisers, 442 F.Supp. 1072, 1079 (N.D.Ill.1977);  see also Trafficante v. Metropolitan Life Ins. Co., 409 U.S. 205, 209 (1972) (“[t]he language of the Act is broad and inclusive”).  We agree with the plaintiffs that Congress intended the FHAA to be read with its remedial purpose in mind.  Still, a court “cannot discover how far a statute goes by observing the direction in which it points.”  National Ass’n for the Advancement of Colored People v. American Family Mut. Ins. Co., 978 F.2d 287, 298 (7th Cir.1992), cert. denied, 508 U.S. 907 (1993).

The plaintiffs would have us hold that any action whatsoever that in any way hinders a member of a protected class under the fair housing law in obtaining housing is a per se violation of §3617, so long as there is some evidence of discriminatory effect or intent on the actor’s part.  On the other hand, the district court found that, in order to state a claim under §3617, an allegation that a defendant “interfered with” a plaintiff’s rights must include an allegation that the action had “some component of potent force or duress.”  799 F.Supp. at 726.

We believe, however, that the scope of §3617 should at least be analogous to the scope of §3604(f).  Section 3617 is not limited to those who used some sort of “potent force or duress,” but extends to other actors who are in a position directly to disrupt the exercise or enjoyment of a protected right and exercise their powers with a discriminatory animus.  Under this standard, the language “interfere with” encompasses such overt acts as racially-motivated firebombings, Stirgus v. Benoit, 720 F.Supp. 119 (N.D.Ill.1989), sending threatening notes, Sofarelli v. Pinellas County, 931 F.2d 718 (11th Cir.1991), and less obvious, but equally illegal, practices such as exclusionary zoning, United States v. City of Birmingham, 727 F.2d 560 (6th Cir.), cert. denied, 469 U.S. 821 (1984), deflating appraisals because of discriminatory animus, American Inst. of Real Estate Appraisers, and insurance redlining, Laufman v. Oakley Bldg. & Loan Co., 408 F.Supp. 489 (S.D.Ohio 1976).

We find that the actions of the defendants in this case do not rise to the level of “interference with” the rights of the plaintiffs.  ...  Hammonds is not liable under §3617 merely because she sold the house to the highest bidder.  There is no evidence that the negotiations between Hammonds and MORC had given rise to a legally enforceable right in either party.  In the absence of such a right, we do not believe that Congress intended to compel a seller to agree to a less favorable offer simply because a member of a protected class made that offer.  Furthermore, even if Hammonds’s involvement in the transaction is direct enough to bring her actions within §3617, the evidence indicates that Hammonds’s motivation for selling the house to the Ivanovics was purely economic.

Third, we do not believe that the neighbors’ act of purchasing the house constituted “interference” within the meaning of the FHAA.  Although the neighbor’s actions did “interfere” with MORC’s negotiations for the 24 Mile Road property, this interference is not direct enough to warrant a finding of liability in this case:  the neighbors’ actions did not prevent MORC from meeting Hammonds’s timetable, or even from continuing to bid for the property. Although there is evidence of a discriminatory animus on the neighbors’ part, we do not find that they were in a position directly to disrupt, other than by economic competition, the plaintiffs’ enjoyments of their rights, especially given MORC’s own dilatoriness in the transaction.  We conclude that the district court was correct in granting summary judgment to the defendants on the plaintiffs’  §3617 claims.

VI.
Finally, the district court held that the FHAA was unconstitutional as applied to the facts in this case.  Since we hold that none of the defendants’ acts violate the FHAA, we do not reach the question of the act’s constitutionality. …

(  (  (  (  (  (  (
UNITED STATES v. HUGHES

849 F.Supp. 685 (D. Neb. 1994)

KOPF, District Judge:  Defendants Hastings State Bank, its holding company, and bank directors (here referred to collectively as the Bank) have filed a motion ... to dismiss the government’s complaint pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  The government claims that the Bank intentionally discriminated on the basis of handicap against some mentally ill adults by financing the purchase of a house by third persons when a social services organization, acting on behalf of the mentally handicapped group, was trying to purchase the same house for use as a group home.  A violation of the Fair Housing Act (the Act) is claimed.

  
Among other things, the Act makes it unlawful to discriminate in the sale of a dwelling because of a handicap of the buyer, the persons intending to reside within the dwelling after it is sold, or any person associated with the buyer.  42 U.S.C. §3604(f)(1).  The Act also makes it “unlawful to ... interfere with any person in the exercise [of] ... any right granted or protected by [the Act].”  42 U.S.C. §3617.

I shall deny the motion to dismiss.  A complaint should not be dismissed for failure to state a claim unless it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff can prove no set of facts in support of his claim which would entitle him to relief. I must, of course, deny the motion to dismiss unless the complaint states some bar to relief that could not be overcome in any circumstance. I cannot say that the complaint contains any such bar.

  
If the Bank intentionally acted to aid other persons in violating the Act, by “economic competition” or otherwise, I am persuaded that a cause of action has been stated under the Act.  The government agrees that it must prove that the Bank acted intentionally.  ... So long as the Bank’s “intentions” are part of the prima facie case of the government, I see no reason to construe the word “interference” found in 42 U.S.C. §3617 in the limited manner proposed by the defendants.  Thus, I hold that a Bank may violate the Act if it finances a purchase of property with the intention of aiding the purchasers in keeping the home from being purchased by other buyers because those other buyers are or are associated with mentally ill persons.  See Trafficante v. Metropolitan Life Ins. Co., 409 U.S. 205, 209 (1972) (“[t]he language of the Act is broad and inclusive”).

I decline to follow Michigan Protection & Advocacy Service, Inc. v. Babin, 799 F.Supp. 695 (E.D.Mich.1992), aff’d 18 F.3d 337 (6th Cir.1994). Respectfully, I believe that both the opinion of the district court and the circuit court in Babin are plainly wrong in suggesting that there is some sort of “economic competition” exception to the Act.  I have two reasons for this conclusion.

First, this is not a matter of what the statute might say, but what it does say.  The word “interference” as used in section 3617 plainly encompasses all “interference,” economic or otherwise.

  
Second, true “economic competition” does not exist when the purpose of the competition is to deny a protected person access to housing, as opposed to securing housing for oneself or for investment purposes.  In fact, it is irrational to spend money for the purpose of prohibiting someone else from living next to you, if the reason you do not wish to live next to that person is because he or she has a handicap protected by the Act.

  
For example, the decision to buy a house at a particular price is not driven by whether the neighbors are physically attractive, plain, or ugly. This is true because these traits have nothing to do with how rational market values are established.  The same is true of handicaps protected by the Act (or race, religion, gender, family status or national origin).  And, to the extent that market forces act irrationally based upon invidious and nonsensical assumptions, Congress has declared that such irrationality shall not be rewarded, protected, or freed from regulation.  Accordingly, IT IS ORDERED that the motion to dismiss ... is denied.

(  (  (  (  (  (  (
DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

48.  What test does the court develop in Babin to determine whether conduct falls within §3604 or §3617?  Is the test supported by statutory language? By policy? 
49.  What conduct is at issue in Babin and Hughes? Which court has the better argument as a matter of statutory language?  As a matter of policy? 
50.  Do you think the result might have been different in Babin if the protected category at issue was race, religion, or national origin?  Should it be different?
51.  Note that McDermott’s interpretation of “interference” relies on part of the lower court’s opinion in Babin that is explicitly rejected by the Sixth Circuit.  Which reading of “interference” makes more sense?  

(  (  (  (  (  (  (
3.  Liability for Post-Acquisition Discriminatory Acts
UNITED STATES v. KOCH

2004 WL 3130550 (D.Neb. 2004)
URBOM, District Judge. … Plaintiff United States of America filed a complaint alleging that Defendant John R. Koch engaged in a pattern or practice of housing discrimination in violation of [the FHA].  More specifically, the complaint alleges, inter alia, that “[s]ince at least 1996 through the present, the defendant has subjected numerous female tenants and prospective female tenants of the rental properties owned and/or managed by defendant ... to severe, pervasive, and unwelcome verbal and physical sexual advances.” This matter proceeded to trial, and at the conclusion of the plaintiff’s case in chief, the defendant moved for judgment as a matter of law on certain claims. This motion was renewed at the close of evidence. For the following reasons, I find that the motion must be denied. …
Whether Acts that Occurred After the Aggrieved Persons Took Possession of Rental Properties are Actionable Under the Fair Housing Act. The defendant … argues that to the extent the aggrieved persons claim that they suffered discriminatory treatment after they moved into the defendant’s properties, their claims cannot be maintained under sections 3604 or 3617 of the Fair Housing Act.


I find that the defendant’s argument is precluded by Neudecker v. Boisclair Corp., 351 F.3d 361, 364 (8th Cir.2003), wherein the court concluded that “disability harassment in the housing context is actionable under the FHA....” In Neudecker, the plaintiff, who suffered from obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD), filed a complaint against the owner of the apartment building in which the plaintiff resided. The plaintiff alleged, inter alia, that the defendant’s employees disseminated the plaintiff’s private medical information to tenants; that the plaintiff suffered disability-based harassment at the hands of the son of the apartment building manager and the daughter of the assistant manager; that after the plaintiff complained about the harassment, the manager and assistant manager retaliated against the plaintiff; and that the property manager threatened to evict the plaintiff “ ‘as reprisal’ for his continued complaints about being harassed.” Clearly, the plaintiff’s claims were based upon actions that occurred during his twenty-three year tenancy at the defendant’s apartment building; thus, they were “post-residence acquisition” claims…. 

Noting that “[t]he FHA prohibits discrimination, based on handicap, against any person with respect to the rental of a dwelling or the provision of related services or facilities,” (citing 42 U.S.C. §3604(f)), and citing decisions in which “federal courts have permitted claims under the FHA when sexual harassment causes a hostile housing environment,” (citing DiCenso v. Cisneros, 96 F.3d 1004, 1008 (7th Cir.1996); Honce v. Vigil, 1 F.3d 1085, 1088-90 (10th Cir.1993); Williams v. Poretsky Mgmt., 955 F.Supp. 490, 495-96 (D.Md.1996)), the Eighth Circuit concluded that the plaintiff’s allegations were sufficient to state an “independent claim for disability harassment under the FHA.”  The court also concluded that the plaintiff sufficiently alleged a retaliation claim under section 3617, “because he asserted that [the defendant’s] representative threatened to evict him as a reprisal for his complaints that tenants were engaging in disability harassment.” 


Since the Eighth Circuit has found that “post-residence acquisition” claims based upon a tenant’s disability are cognizable under sections 3604 and 3617, and in view of the court’s reliance upon cases authorizing FHA claims based upon sexually-hostile housing environment allegations, I believe that the court would reject Koch’s assertion that the aggrieved persons’ “post-residence acquisition” claims “cannot be maintained under the FHA.”

In support of his position, the defendant relies chiefly upon the district court’s and Seventh Circuit’s opinions in Halprin v. Prairie Single Family Homes of Dearborn Park Ass’n., 208 F.Supp.2d 896 (N.D.Ill.2002), rev’d in part, 388 F.3d 327 (7th Cir.2004). Since the Seventh Circuit criticized the Eighth Circuit’s opinion in Neudecker, a careful examination of the Halprin opinions is in order. In Halprin, the co-owners of a home located in the Prairie Single Family Homes subdivision filed a complaint against several defendants, including the subdivision’s homeowners’ association and a Mr. Ormond, who was a resident of the subdivision and a member and officer of the homeowners’ association. The complaint was based upon a number of incidents, including Mr. Ormond’s alleged vandalism of the plaintiffs’ home; the defendants’ alteration and destruction of records in an attempt to conceal Ormond’s threats against the plaintiffs; the defendants’ threats to force the plaintiffs to sell their home due to an alleged violation of the association’s covenants;2 the defendants’ application of unwanted chemicals to the plaintiffs’ lawn; and the defendants’ enactment of “several new rules targeted solely at restricting the freedom of plaintiffs to enjoy the use of their home.” Halprin, 208 F.Supp.2d at 899. “[T]he entire campaign of harassment was caused or at least influenced by the religion of the Jewish plaintiff.” Halprin, 388 F.3d at 328.


The plaintiffs alleged that the defendants’ actions amounted to violations of 42 U.S.C. §§3604(b)-(c) and 3617. The district court disagreed and dismissed each of these claims. According to the court, the plaintiffs’ complaint failed to state a claim under section 3604(b) because “Plaintiffs already owned their home and none of plaintiffs’ allegations involve the sale or rental of housing.” For the same reason, the court concluded that the complaint failed to state a claim under section 3604(c). Finally, the court determined that the section 3617 claim ought to be dismissed for two reasons. First, the court noted that “the Seventh Circuit has instructed that when the alleged violation of §3617 involves the same conduct and the same party responsible for a violation of §3604, and the court finds the underlying §3604 claim meritless, the court should also find the §3617 claim meritless.”  Since the plaintiffs failed to state a claim under section 3604, the court held that the section 3617 claim must also fail. Secondly, the court concluded that the plaintiff’s allegations were not severe enough to support a claim under section 3617, because that section only applies to “threatening, intimidating, or extremely violent discriminatory conduct designed to drive an individual out of his home,” such as “cross-burning, firebombing homes or cars, shooting shotguns, physical assaults, or throwing Molotov cocktails.”3 

On appeal, the Seventh Circuit affirmed the district court’s conclusion that the plaintiffs failed to state a claim under section 3604, stating, “Our plaintiffs ... are complaining not about being prevented from acquiring property but about being harassed by other property owners.” The court noted that “[a]cts of post-sale discrimination have been litigated successfully under the Act,” but found that the “Act’s applicability to such discrimination” was not discussed in those cases. The court also acknowledged that other circuit courts of appeals, including the Eighth Circuit in Neudecker, have drawn analogies between the FHA and Title VII and found that certain harassment claims are viable under the FHA; however, the court disregarded these cases, stating that “in none of these cases did the court consider the difference in language between the two statutes,” and “[n]one of the ... cases contains a considered holding on the scope of the Fair Housing Act in general or its application to a case like the present one in particular.” The court then presented its own analysis of the scope of the FHA, stating,  
Title VII protects the job holder as well as the job applicant, so an employer who resorts to harassment to force an employee to quit is engaged in job discrimination within the meaning of the Act. The Fair Housing Act contains no hint either in its language or its legislative history of a concern with anything but access to housing. Behind the Act lay the widespread practice of refusing to sell or rent homes in desirable residential areas to members of minority groups. Since the focus was on their exclusion, the problem of how they were treated when they were included, that is, when they were allowed to own or rent homes in such areas, was not at the forefront of congressional thinking. That problem-the problem not of exclusion but of expulsion-would become acute only when the law forced unwanted associations that might provoke efforts at harassment, and so it would tend not to arise until the Act was enacted and enforced. There is nothing to suggest that Congress was trying to solve that future problem, an endeavor that would have required careful drafting in order to make sure that quarrels between neighbors did not become a routine basis for federal litigation. 

Thus, the Seventh Circuit concluded that the “plaintiffs have no claim under section 3604.”


Although the court suggested that the absence of a viable section 3604 claim “might seem to doom [the plaintiffs’] claim under section 3617 as well, because that section provides legal protection only against acts that interfere with one or more of the other sections of the Act,” it nevertheless reversed the district court’s holding that the plaintiffs had no claim under section 3617. The court explained its decision by noting that [24 C.F.R. §100.400(c)(2),]

a regulation issued by the Department of Housing and Urban Development  ... in the name of section 3617 forbids among other things ‘threatening, intimidating, or interfering with persons in their enjoyment of a dwelling because of the race, color, religion, sex, handicap, familial status, or national origin of such persons, or of visitors or associates of such persons.’ 

The court suggested that this regulation might be invalid, but concluded that the defendant’s failure to challenge the regulation’s validity eliminated this basis for affirming the district court’s decision. Finally, the court rejected the district court’s conclusion that only violent acts, such as cross-burnings or assaults, are sufficiently severe to support a section 3617 claim. 


The defendant asks that I apply in this case the rules derived in Halprin. More specifically, the defendant argues that to the extent the aggrieved persons’ claims are based upon incidents that occurred after they took possession of the rental properties, their claims cannot proceed under 42 U.S.C. §3604. In addition, the defendant argues that these claims cannot proceed under section 3617 because 24 C.F.R. §100.400(c)(2) is invalid.4 For the following reasons, I reject the defendant’s arguments.


First, as I have stated above, the Eighth Circuit has held that a plaintiff can base a section 3604 or 3617 claim on discriminatory acts that occurred after housing had been acquired. See Neudecker. 

Second, after studying the Halprin opinions, I find that I am not persuaded by their analyses of the intended scope of Title VIII. Specifically, it seems to me that the courts’ analyses are questionable in two key respects: they counsel that a narrow interpretation ought to be given to the language of section 3604, and they depend greatly upon a narrow view of the FHA’s legislative history. I shall elaborate upon each of these criticisms in turn.

 
In Halprin, the district court interpreted the terms of section 3604(b) narrowly, holding that the prohibition of discrimination “against any person in the terms, conditions, or privileges of sale or rental of a dwelling, or in the provision of services or facilities in connection therewith,” cannot be read to apply to acts of discrimination that occur after a home is sold. However, there is authority that the terms of the Fair Housing Act are to be construed generously in order to promote the replacement of segregated ghettos with “truly integrated and balanced living patterns.” Trafficante v. Metropolitan Life Insurance Co., 409 U.S. 205, 211-12 (1972) (quoting 114 Cong. Rec. 3422. (1968)); City of Edmonds v. Oxford House Inc., 514 U.S. 725, 731 (1995). … Indeed, the Seventh Circuit too has endorsed this principle, see Metropolitan Housing Development Corp. v. Village of Arlington Heights, 558 F.2d 1283, 1289 (7th Cir.1977), although it was not acknowledged by either Halprin court. 


In any event, the Seventh Circuit acknowledged in Halprin that post-sale discrimination might be encompassed within the statutory language of section 3604 “as a purely semantic matter,” because the “ ‘privileges of sale or rental’ might conceivably be thought to include the privilege of inhabiting the premises.” (quoting §3604(b)). In my view, it is difficult to imagine a privilege that flows more naturally from the purchase or rental of a dwelling than the privilege of residing therein; therefore the Fair Housing Act should be (and has been) read to permit the enjoyment of this privilege without discriminatory harassment. Thus, and in view of the authorities counseling a broad interpretation of the language of the FHA, I cannot share the Halprin courts’ cramped interpretation of the scope of section 3604(b).


I also disagree with the Seventh Circuit’s analysis of the legislative history of the FHA. As I noted above, the court granted-albeit somewhat grudgingly-that section 3604(b) might be read to prohibit unlawful discrimination against the privilege of inhabiting the premises that one has purchased or rented. However, the court relied upon the legislative history of the FHA to rule out this interpretation, stating, “The Fair Housing Act contains no hint either in its language or its legislative history of a concern with anything but access to housing,” and arguing that there is no reason to conclude that Congress gave any thought to problems that might arise when “[minorities] were allowed to own or rent homes” in “desirable residential areas.” I cannot agree with this assessment. With respect to the “language” of the Fair Housing Act, I note preliminarily that one need look no farther than its first section, as it was initially presented by Senator Mondale, to recognize that Congress was not unconcerned with the need to prevent discrimination that might arise during a person’s occupancy of a dwelling:  
It is the policy of the United States to prevent discrimination on account of  race, color, religion, or national origin in the purchase, rental, financing, and occupancy of housing throughout the United States.  

114 Cong. Rec. 2270 (1968) (emphasis added). The wording of this statement of policy was later changed, see 42 U.S.C. § 3601, but it cannot be said that at the time of the congressional debates, Congress gave no thought to “post-possession” problems, such as harassment or expulsion.6 


Furthermore, at least one provision of the FHA deals expressly with problems that arise after home ownership has been secured. See 42 U.S.C. §3605 (barring discrimination in “real estate-related transactions,” which include, inter alia, “[t]he making ... of loans ... for ... improving, repairing, or maintaining a dwelling ....”). Thus, it seems to me that the language of the FHA does demonstrate that Congress was concerned with post-possession discrimination.


As for the legislative history of the FHA, it is true that the congressional records reflect a deep concern about exclusionary housing practices; in particular, it is clear that the legislation was motivated by a desire to eliminate discriminatory business practices that confined African-Americans to harsh inner-city living conditions. However, it does not necessarily follow that Congress did not intend for the FHA to reach discrimination that occurs after housing has been acquired. On the contrary, Congress was “committed to the principle of living together,” and sought to promote integrated neighborhoods where residents of different races would live together in “harmony.” Congress hoped that its promotion of these principles would lead to the reduction of the deleterious effects of ghettos on the employment and education of the Americans trapped therein. To achieve these goals, Congress sought to pass “measures that have teeth and meaning, in the eyes of every American, black or white.” It seems to me that little progress could have been made toward Congress’s goals-and its measures would appear to have few teeth-if the basic privilege of residing within one’s home were not protected from the evils of discriminatory harassment.


In sum, it is the Seventh Circuit’s view that Congress sought to allow members of minority groups to acquire housing without facing discrimination but was not concerned with allowing such people to live in that housing without facing discrimination. I do not believe that this interpretation of the scope of the FHA is mandated by the Act’s language or its legislative history. On the contrary, a broad interpretation of the FHA that encompasses post-possession acts of discrimination is consistent with the Act’s language, its legislative history, and the policy “to provide ... for fair housing throughout the United States.” 42 U.S.C. §3601.


Third, I am not persuaded by the courts’ analysis of the scope of section 3617. … To the extent that the Halprin courts hold that a violation of section 3617 cannot lie absent a violation of section 3603, 3604, 3605, or 3606,7 I respectfully disagree. As another district judge in this circuit has aptly noted, “such a construction renders §3617 a redundant section.” United States v. Pospisil, 127 F.Supp.2d 1059, 1063 (W.D.Mo.2000). Similarly, other circuit courts have concluded that section 3617 may be violated when “no discriminatory housing practice may have occurred at all.” United States v. City of Hayward, 36 F.3d 832, 836 (9th Cir.1994) (quoting Smith v. Stechel, 510 F.2d 1162, 1164 (9th Cir.1975)); see also Sofarelli v. Pinellas County, 931 F.2d 718, 722 (11th Cir.1991) (allowing section 3617 claim to proceed based upon allegations of interference with efforts to aid or encourage a purchaser’s right to housing under section 3604 ). I agree with these decisions, and I find that even if section 3604 were given a narrow interpretation, such that it does not prohibit post-possession discrimination, it does not necessarily follow that no violation of section 3617 can lie.8  Furthermore, I conclude that the plain language of section 3617 should be read to prohibit unlawful discriminatory conduct after a person has taken possession of a dwelling. This interpretation of the scope of  section 3617 is shared, at least implicitly, by courts that have recognized harassment claims under the FHA, see, e.g., Krueger v. Cuomo, 115 F.3d 487, 491 (7th Cir.1997); Neudecker v. Boisclair Corp., 351 F.3d 361, 363-64 (8th Cir.2003), and by courts that have found that section 3617 prohibits discriminatory conduct designed to drive people from their homes, such as cross-burnings, see, e.g., Pospisil, 127 F.Supp.2d at 1061-63; Stirgus v. Benoit, 720 F.Supp. 119, 123 (N.D.Ill.1989); Johnson v. Smith, 810 F.Supp. 235, 238-39 (N.D.Ill.1992). 
 
Finally, even under Halprin, the defendant’s argument that all “post-residence acquisition” claims must be dismissed hinges upon the validity of the regulation setting forth the Department of Housing and Urban Development’s (HUD’s) interpretation of section 3617. This regulation states, in relevant part, that “[c]onduct made unlawful under [section 3617] includes ... [t]hreatening, intimidating or interfering with persons in their enjoyment of a dwelling because of the race, color, religion, sex, handicap, familial status, or national origin of such persons ....” 24 C.F.R. §100.400(c)(2) (emphasis added). Since the regulation forbids discrimination that occurs after a person has taken possession of a dwelling, the aggrieved persons’ “post-residence acquisition” claims may proceed under section 3617 if the regulation is valid.

 
I begin my analysis of the validity of section 100.400(c) with the familiar principles set forth by the Supreme Court in Chevron, U.S.A. v. Natural Resources Defense Council, 467 U.S. 837, 842-43 (1984): 

When a court reviews an agency’s construction of the statute which it administers, it is confronted with two questions. First, always, is the question whether Congress has directly spoken to the precise question at issue. If the intent of Congress is clear, that is the end of the matter; for the court, as well as the agency, must give effect to the unambiguously expressed intent of Congress. If, however, the court determines Congress has not directly addressed the precise question at issue, the court does not simply impose its own construction of the statute, as would be necessary in the absence of administrative interpretation. Rather, if the statute is silent or ambiguous with respect to the specific issue, the question for the court is whether the agency’s answer is based on a permissible construction of the statute. 

467 U.S. at 842-43. It seems to me that Congress has not directly spoken to the precise issue of whether section 3617 makes it unlawful to “intimidate, threaten, or interfere with” a person in her enjoyment of a dwelling because of her sex; at least, the issue is not free from doubt. Therefore, I must determine whether HUD’s regulation “is based on a permissible construction of the statute.” Id. at 843. 

 
“The power of an administrative agency to administer a congressionally created ... program necessarily requires the formulation of policy and the making of rules to fill any gap left, implicitly or explicitly, by Congress.” If Congress has explicitly left a gap for the agency to fill, there is an express delegation of authority to the agency to elucidate a specific provision of the statute by regulation. Such legislative regulations are given controlling weight unless they are arbitrary, capricious, or manifestly contrary to the statute. Sometimes the legislative delegation to an agency on a particular question is implicit rather than explicit. In such a case, a court may not substitute its own construction of a statutory provision for a reasonable interpretation made by the administrator of an agency. Here, Congress has not explicitly left a gap for HUD to fill; therefore, section 100.400(c)(2) will be deemed valid if it is a reasonable interpretation of the legislation to which it relates. See id. at 844; Ragsdale v. Wolverine Worldwide, Inc., 218 F.3d 933, 936 (8th Cir.2000). I will reject the regulation as invalid if it is “contrary to clear congressional intent.” Ragsdale, 218 F.3d at 936 (quoting Chevron, 467 U.S. at 843 n.9).

 
After carefully considering the Fair Housing Act, its stated purpose, and its legislative history, I find that 24 C.F.R. §100.400(c)(2) is a reasonable interpretation of section 3617. I see no indication that it is contrary to Congress’s intent in enacting the Fair Housing Act. Therefore, I conclude that the regulation is not invalid, and that it provides a vehicle for the aggrieved persons’ “post-residence acquisition” claims to proceed under section 3617.


In sum, for the foregoing reasons I reject the defendant’s arguments that the aggrieved person’s “post-residence acquisition” claims cannot proceed under either section 3604 or 3617.

Whether the Evidence is Sufficient to Support the Aggrieved Persons’ Claims. … [T]he aggrieved persons’ sexual harassment claims, whether brought pursuant to section 3604 (either as pre- or post-possession claims) or section 3617, are to be analyzed under a framework derived from Title VII cases. See Neudecker (discussing elements of disability-based hostile housing environment cause of action); see also DiCenso v. Cisneros, 96 F.3d 1004, 1008-09 (7th Cir.1996) (discussing elements sexually hostile housing environment cause of action); Honce v. Vigil, 1 F.3d 1085, 1088-90 (10th Cir.1993) (discussing elements of quid pro quo housing harassment and hostile housing environment causes of action).


With the foregoing in mind, I shall review the sufficiency of the evidence supporting each aggrieved persons’ claims-excepting, of course, those aggrieved persons who have been awarded no damages by the jury. Hereafter I shall summarize the pertinent testimony of each aggrieved person, which constitutes sufficient evidence to support the claim of the person. In each instance the aggrieved person testified that the sexual advances or actions of John Koch were unwelcome and were made without any inducement on her part.

 
1. Lisa Carroll:  About six months after she moved into one of his rental houses, John Koch grabbed and held her breasts for two or three seconds. She was hurt by the incident, finding that afterward she was unable to let doctors or nurses touch her breasts.


 2. Ebony Dishmon:  When she refused his offer to cancel her overdue rent in exchange for sex, John Koch evicted her. His propositioning her made her feel bad and she now finds it hard to trust people, has talked with a counselor, has felt her life has been in the palms of Koch’s hands and she has been depressed.

 
3.  Penny Goforth:  She was going to rent from John Koch, but did not. He wanted $500 deposit; she had only $150 to put down. He excused himself, went to his bathroom, walked out toward her with his pants unzipped and his erect penis and pubic hair in full view, a condom dangling unrolled from his pocket. He said they would make some adjustment on the deposit. She took the rental paperwork and left. She was embarrassed, fearful of what he would do, and she did not go back.

 
4. Rachael McCluskey: In 1999-2000 she acquiesced in his demand for sex--he said if she did not have sex with him, he would have all her things thrown out into the street. She had no place to go so had sex with him for one to one and one-half hours. He did not have her things thrown out. She did not give in to him again. She then read up on renter’s rights. After that, he wanted oral sex, but she said no and that he couldn’t do anything to her without serving her notice. He had her evicted. The relationships with her daughter, with her boyfriend and with men have changed as a result.


5. Tamechia Nedds:  She was a woman with two young children and a husband who was a full-time student. She looked at a house for rent for $475 a month and loved it. She told Koch that her deadline for getting out of her present house was July 15. He said there was no problem. As she left, he asked if he could have a “taste.” She took it to mean sex and said no. He delayed the occupancy date of the rental house beyond her July 15 deadline, and asked again for a “taste.” She again refused. She had lost her job because of his delaying the occupancy date. She reported Koch to Fair Housing, who asked if she would be willing to wear a tape and record a conversation with John Koch. She agreed and did tape a conversation in which he asked if she would have sex with him, and he would knock off $75 from her rent.

 
6. Felisha Scoggins:  In applying for rent in 2001, she filled out the application form and asked John Koch what else he wanted. He said she could put her measurements on the application form. She did put her physical measurements on the form and wishes now she had not. He said he would work with her to take $75 off the rent monthly as long as no man was in the house and she gave sexual favors to him. She was prepared to pay full rent and refused his offer. He sat in a chair and asked if she would dance sexually for him. She declined. He asked her to sit on his lap and she did. He wanted to suck her breasts, but was refused. She decided not to rent from him because she felt unsafe. She still feels unsafe and refuses to rent without her father being present.

 
7. Deborah Sterling:  She rented for about a year during 1992. At one point she owed John Koch $75 in rent. He said she could take it out in trade. He said he wanted to “see her titties.” Once he sat down and said he wanted her to run her hand over his penis. She refused. He asked if she wanted to touch it. She said no. As a result, she was scared all the time, felt insecure, and didn’t dare open her windows. She moved out because of fearing him.

 
8. Brenda Parker Taylor:  When she went to rent a house from John Koch, she had no money and he asked her to give him oral sex. She did not respond. In awhile she did what he requested, gave him oral sex that day. She felt she had to comply, because she could not go back to the house where she had lived and did not have much family support. He made clear that she was not able to stay in the rental house if she didn’t comply. She did not want to do oral sex but did not want to be put out in the streets either. The shelter was full. After that he came around every day to repair the sink and every day he asked for oral sex, saying that if he got it, she would not have to worry about the light bill and could continue to stay in the house. She never received a light bill. She did give Koch oral sex nine or ten times while she lived there, always to be able to stay. He never said anything about her being behind on her rent. When he wanted to urinate on her breasts, she refused and was ready to leave. She did move out at his request. The emotional effect has been considerable, because her husband thought she had been paying the bills and later she had to tell him the truth, whereupon he put a knife to her head and put her in a mental hospital. She did what she thought she had to do.


9. Anita Thomas:  After she had rented from Koch, he said he would give her a refrigerator and a stove if she had “favors” (sex) with him or if she would dance nude for him. She would not. In 1998-9 he said he would have her evicted if she wouldn’t have sex with him. Once he left urine in a spray bottle she used for ironing her daughter’s clothes, turned her heat off in retaliation for another person’s actions, locked the rental house’s doors so she could not get in, came numerous times to her house and left lingerie, jewelry, and other gifts, saying he wanted to see her in the lingerie. She reported him to the Omaha Housing Authority without avail. As a result of her eviction, she had no permanent home for three months, living “everywhere” and “anywhere.”

10. Kali Underwood:  It became clear to her that she would not be permitted to rent from John Koch unless she performed sex with him. At his insistence she showed him her breasts. He grabbed them and masturbated in front of her; he ejaculated, wiped himself off with a towel, and signed the rental papers for the house. The effect of all of this on her is that she is not a trusting person anymore.  …
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DISCUSSION QUESTIONS
52.  Gourlay, Koch and the Halprin opinions described in Koch each address the availability of relief under the FHA for post-acquisition discriminatory acts. Each case makes arguments based on a number of different sources. For each of these sources listed below, identify the arguments the courts made based on that source and explain which of those arguments was persuasive and why:

(a) The language of §3604(a) (b) and (c).

(b) The language of §3604(f)

(c) The language of §3617

(d) The legislative history of the FHA

(e) HUD’s interpretation of the FHA

(f) The canons of construction.

(g) The difference between renting and owning the housing in question.

53.  What effect might the evidence in Koch have had on the way the court interpreted the statute?

54.  As a matter of policy, should there be a cause of action for post-acquisition discriminatory acts by homeowners’ associations as was claimed in Gourlay and Halprin?  Assuming there should be, which statutory provision should apply?
(  (  (  (  (  (  (
1 In addition, Plaintiffs have four biological children.


2 In June 2002, FLECA’s newsletter written by Lucas contained the following statement regarding vandalism: “I think you have to agree with me that this was done by some underprivileged and misunderstood kids who did not know who their daddy was ….” There is no evidence  in the record that Lucas in June 2002 knew that Plaintiffs had foster children.


4 In addition, Plaintiffs argue that FLECA took pictures of their children playing and that constituted harassment. According to Lucas, one of the Plaintiffs’ neighbors took pictures of Plaintiffs’ children playing and the state of Plaintiffs’ yard. There is no evidence that the neighbor (who has since moved) was authorized by FLECA or Lucas to  take the pictures. … [T]here is nothing in the record, except for Plaintiffs conjecture and supposition, that FLECA authorized, ratified, or otherwise supported the neighbor taking pictures of Plaintiffs’  children.


5 Peyton is quoted in a local newspaper around the time that the  State Court action was filed as saying that Plaintiffs were “making a business of taking in foster children” and “I understand they are [not] doing it [taking in foster children] for free or out of love, that it’s a business.” Peyton denied making the former statement, but not the later statement.


7  Courts interpreting the FFHA have utilized the interpretation by federal courts of the almost identically worded FHA. See Loren v. Sasser, 309 F.3d 1296, 1299 n.9 (11th Cir.2002); Dornbach v. Holley, 854 So.2d 211, 212-13, (Fla. 2d DCA 2002). This Court will construe FFHA and FHA together because of the similarity in language and purpose of the two statutes. … 


8 Indeed, this canon of statutory construction is explicitly embedded in the … FHA, [which] states that “[i]t is the policy of the United States to provide, within constitutional limitations, for fair housing throughout the United States.” 42 U.S.C. §3601 (emphasis added).


10 Put another way, Section 3604(a) prevents discriminatory conduct that directly deprives protected persons housing opportunities. See Clifton Terrace Assoc. v. United Technologies Corp., 929 F.2d 714, 719 (D.C.Cir.1991) (holding no Section 3604 violation when elevator [company] refused to repair elevator in housing project); see also Michigan  Protection and Advocacy Service. v. Babin, 799 F.Supp. 695, 713 (E.D.Mich.1992), aff’d 18 F.3d 337 (6th Cir.1994) (holding under an identical provision contained in Section 3604(f)(1) that neighbors could not violate FHA). 


11  In the rental context, to “otherwise make unavailable” may have a broader reading. As periodically, the rental of a dwelling would need to be renewed and a landlord and tenant have an ongoing relationship that a purchaser and seller do not have. This would make activities by a landlord or others actionable after the rental of a dwelling. This  Court need not define provision the precise line in such a case, because this Court does not have before it a protected person claiming discriminatory rental practices.


13 Congress when it amended the FHA in 1988 and included the extra language in Section 3604(f)(3) defining discrimination in the disability context. The protection given in that section by Congress seems to have given greater protection to disabled individuals after the sale or rental of a dwelling than other protected groups. For this reason,  Plaintiffs’ citations to [cases involving discrimination on the basis of “handicap”] are distinguishable and do not persuade this Court that similar rights exist for other protected classifications. 


14 As an initial matter, this Court finds that the FHA was passed to ensure fairness and equality in housing, see 42 U.S.C. §3601, not to become some all purpose civility code regulating conduct between neighbors.


17  Section 3604(a) could potentially also extend to actions that actually evict or have the affect of evicting a protected person from a dwelling. Plaintiffs have not provided any evidence that FLECA attempted to actually evict them from their house or attempted through use of injunctive or some other form of relief to remove them or their foster children from the home. A review of the State Court complaint clearly shows that the declaratory relief sought by FLECA sought a determination of the parties’ rights and responsibilities under the deed restrictions and not the eviction of Plaintiffs. Likewise, Section 3604(a) would apply if FLECA attempted to block the  sale or purchase of a dwelling by enforcing deed restrictions. 


18 Even if this Court were to interpret Section 3604(a) in the manner that Plaintiffs suggest, Plaintiffs’ have not produced any evidence of  discrimination. First, the fact that a neighbor, who is not a party to this suit, took pictures of their children does not indicate  discrimination based on familial status. Plaintiffs’ rely solely on their own speculation and conjecture that the photographs were taken at FLECA or Lucas’s request. Similarly, Plaintiffs produced no evidence that FLECA or Lucas’s request that a tarp be installed was the result of discrimination based on familial status. It is undisputed that Lucas in 2001 was unaware that Plaintiffs had foster children. Even if he knew about Plaintiffs’ foster children, requiring a tarp at best may be circumstantial evidence of discrimination, but Plaintiffs have failed to demonstrate that any other resident of Forest Lakes Estates with similar structures was treated differently than Plaintiffs. The only remaining alleged discriminatory conduct is FLECA’s sending a demand letter and filing the State Court action. As discussed infra, this Court cannot conclude based on the record before it that the State Court action was objectively baseless and not entitled to First Amendment protection. 


20 In connection with a rental, the plain meaning of Section 3604(b) would likely extend past the initial rental of a dwelling in a similar fashion to Section 3604(a).


25  The Eleventh Circuit’s interpretation is consistent with the plain language of Section 3617 and confirmed by the interpretation made of  Section 3617 by HUD. See 24 C.F.R. §100.400.


26 Threatening conduct would include conduct that either physically threatens a person or economic threats, like you will be fired from a job.


27 See also Bryant v. Polston, 2000 WL 1670938, at *2-3 (S.D.Ind. 2000) (finding threats of physical violence including with a gun and continuous racially derogatory remarks to state a cause of action under Section 3617); Ohana v. 180 Prospect Place Realty Corp., 996 F.Supp. 238 (E.D.N.Y.1998) (denying motion to dismiss Section 3617 claim involving threats of violence, stalking, repeated use of anti-Semitic epithets, and creation of noise disturbances); Johnson v. Smith, 810 F.Supp. 235, 236-39 (N.D.Ill.1992) (racially motivated conspiracy that included cross burning actionable); Stirgus v. Benoit, 720 F.Supp. 119 (N.D.Ill.1989) (firebombing of plaintiff’s house actionable); Seaphus v. Lilly, 691 F.Supp. 127 (N.D.Ill.1988) (repeated acts of vandalism actionable).


28  None of the cases cited apply that standard, because most of the  reported decisions involved motions to dismiss.


30 The statements are still offensive, if true, but do not contain profanities, vulgarities, or even slurs or epithets that are present in the cases cited above.


31 Plaintiffs also cite to a statement in a FLECA newsletter written by Lucas prior to Lucas knowing that Plaintiffs had foster children. As a matter of law, Lucas could not have been coercing, intimidating, threatening or interfering with Plaintiffs enjoyment of their housing rights when he wrote it, because he was not aware that Plaintiffs even had exercised such a right. This is not to say that if this case goes to trial, Plaintiffs could not use this statement to show Lucas’s bias and discriminatory animus.


3 Defendants refer to Meadows v. Edgewood Management Corp., 432 F.Supp. 334 (W.D.Va.1977), which, like the instant case, involved a rental agent who was discharged by management allegedly for aiding and encouraging a tenant to exercise rights guaranteed by the FHA.  The court found that plaintiff had failed to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that she actually did aid and encourage that particular tenant.  However, the court also specifically found “that section 3617 provides a remedy in a situation where a resident manager ... [is] dismissed by [her] employers because of [her] aid or encouragement to tenants in asserting their right to fair housing.”  Id. at 335.  Thus, Meadows is actually better authority for plaintiff than defendants, because had the rental agent in that case been able to prove her factual allegations, her status as a rental agent would not have prevented the court from sustaining her §3617 claim.





1 This group consisted of Scott and Peggy Babin, Nosh and Katrina Ivanovic, Thomas Fortin, and Paul Hebert.


2 At oral argument, counsel for the plaintiffs acknowledged that the neighbors’ letter-writing campaign, town meeting, media contact, and group discussions are activities protected by the First Amendment.  Accordingly, these actions are not in issue.


4 As the district court pointed out, there is some disagreement as to the requirement of a nexus between a  §3617 claim and a §3604 claim.  The Seventh Circuit, for example, has held that where “the conduct that allegedly violated §3617 is the same conduct that allegedly violated §3604(a) and was engaged in by the same party, the validity of the §3617 claim depends upon whether the [conduct] violated section 3604(a).”  Metropolitan Hous. Dev. Corp. v. Village of Arlington Heights, 558 F.2d 1283, 1288 n.5 (7th Cir.1977), cert. denied, 434 U.S. 1025 (1978).  Section 3604(a), which prohibits discrimination against members of several protected classes, is the model for §3604(f)(1) and is directly analogous to the latter provision.  In the case at bar, the district court found that §3604(f)(1) only addressed the denial of a protected right, whereas §3617 protected the exercise or enjoyment of a protected right and that the validity of a §3617 claim did not rest on the court’s disposition of the §3604 claim.  None of the parties, however, briefed or argued this issue on appeal.  Consequently, for the purposes of this opinion, we will assume, without deciding, that the plaintiffs’ §3617 claim does not depend upon the validity of their  §3604(f) claim.


2  This alleged violation was based upon the plaintiffs’ posting of a  sign that offered a reward for information identifying the vandals of their home.


3  Parenthetically, I note that a contradiction inheres in the court’s dual bases for dismissing the plaintiffs’ section 3617 claims. Specifically, if it is true that a person who already owns his home has no section 3617 claim (because he cannot state a meritorious claim under section 3604), it is difficult to see how the severity of the means employed to drive the person from his home can give rise to an actionable claim. Indeed, it seems to me that the court’s first basis for dismissing the plaintiffs’ section 3617 claim strongly implies-if not dictates-that firebombings, cross-burnings, assaults, and acts of vandalism motivated by unlawful discrimination are not actionable under the FHA if they occur after the victim takes possession of his home.


4  I note that this argument depends upon the assumption that post-possession claims cannot proceed under section 3617, standing alone. This assumption is supported, albeit in different ways, in both Halprin decisions. 


6 Nor can it be said that the current statement of policy rules out any prohibition of post-possession discrimination. See 42 U.S.C. §3601 (“It is the policy of the United States to provide, within constitutional limitations, for fair housing throughout the  United States.”). In Cox v. City of Dallas, 2004 WL 370242 (W.D.Tex. 2004), which the defendant cites …, the district court quoted section 3601 and stated, 


In commenting upon the import of that declaration, Senator Mondale explained, ‘Obviously, this [§3601] is to be read in context with the entire bill, the objective being to eliminate discrimination in the sale or rental of housing .... Without doubt, it means to provide for what is provided in the bill. It means the elimination of discrimination in the sale or rental of housing. That is all it could possibly mean.’ 


Id. at 2004 WL 370242  (quoting 114 Cong. Rec. 4975 (1968)). The court uses this language to support its view that section 3604(b) applies only to discrimination which precludes ownership of a dwelling. However, the court’s broken quote avoids the context of  Senator Mondale’s comments. Senator Mondale was responding to Senator  Murphy’s concern that the words, “to provide for fair housing throughout the United States,” could be read to mean “to give the housing” or “make it available.” 114 Cong. Rec. 4975 (1968). In other words, Senator Mondale’s comments were designed to respond to a colleague’s concern that section 3601 could be read to require the United States to give housing or make housing available throughout the country. When they are  viewed in context, I do not believe that Senator Mondale’s words support the view that the FHA is limited to pre-possession discrimination.


7  The Seventh Circuit stated, “So the plaintiffs have no claim under section 3604. And this might seem to doom their claim under section 3617 as well, because that section provides legal protection only against acts that interfere with one or more of the other sections of the Act that are referred to in section 3617 ....” 


8  For example, if a woman rents an apartment-ostensibly pursuant to the same lease terms that are provided to all other tenants-it seems to me that she has exercised her right to obtain a dwelling without discrimination on account of her sex. This right is protected by section 3604, although there has been no violation of this right. If, however, after she has taken possession of the property, she is then subjected to discriminatory acts based upon her sex, it seems to me that she should be allowed to prove that she experienced interference-if not threats, intimidation, or coercion-on account of her having exercised or enjoyed her right of access to housing protected by section 3604.
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